THE IMPACT OF A STRUCTURED ENGLISH IMMERSION MODEL ON ENGLISH LANGUAGE LEARNERS' READING ACHIEVEMENT

By

Fred Lugo

A Dissertation

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

in Educational Leadership

Northern Arizona University

May, 2018

Approved:

Walter Delecki, Ph.D., Chair

Nicholas Clement, Ed.D.

Mary Dereshiwsky, Ph.D.

David Luna, Ed.D.

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to my wife, Mary Jo, daughter, Elizabeth Liperote, her husband Johnny, and my grandchildren, Giuliana, John-John, and Dominic – I hope that I have portrayed this arduous journey as something worth striving for. Thank you for always supporting this journey.

To Grandma who passed away towards the end of this journey – she loved education and provided me with enduring words of inspiration. I only wish that she could have been at the finish line with me.

To my friends, co-workers, and colleagues – thank you for the continued support and kindness that you have given me over the years, my appreciation will never wane.

Finally, to my Dissertation Buddy, Tessa Herrington – you were there for the whole journey. Regardless of smooth or rough terrain, you were there to navigate through it with me.

Acknowledgements

Readily will I display the intestinal fortitude required to fight on to the Ranger objective and complete the mission though I be the lone survivor.

- The Ranger Creed

While I will always maintain that Ranger School was the most difficult training that I have ever endured, this doctoral journey comes in a close second for testing endurance, character, and tenacity. Like my Ranger Buddies who helped me get through the grueling training, I have key people (Dissertation Buddies) to acknowledge for this journey.

- To my Committee Chair, Dr. Walter Delecki, a truly inspiring gentleman who always makes any situation seem doable. Your knowledge and wisdom are exceptional. I could have not been in better hands.
- To Dr. Mary D, you have been one of my supports from the start. I thank you for pushing me to learn more and be my best.
- To Dr. Nicholas Clement, the input that you shared from your experience working with English Language Learners was invaluable. Your insights on my study helped me so much.
- To Dr. David Luna, I appreciate what you brought to my study, your experience of growing up as an English Language Learner provided input from an insider's viewpoint.
- To Doctors Allen Roda, William Caskey, and Tamara Springle, my editors who made the end possible.

• And finally, to my Dissertation Buddy, Tessa Herrington. Ranger Buddies will share scarce resources and carry extra gear to help one another out. Like my main Ranger Buddy, Bob Campbell who I will always remember, I will never forget that you were my main Dissertation Buddy. Without your support, this would not have been written.

Abstract

Researchers have estimated that by 2030, two of every five American public school students will be acquiring English as second language learners (Shah & Cavanagh, 2012). Providing adequate means by which ELLs can obtain both English language and academic proficiency will be paramount if they are to be successful, contributing members of their communities. Thus, this study was designed to explore the impact of Arizona's current instructional mandates (Ariz. H.R. 2064 and Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 15-751 - 15-756) on the academic progress of English Language Learners (ELLs) in reading. Two administrations (2012 and 2014) of the reading subtest of the Arizona's Instrument to Measure Standards (AIMS) annual assessment were used to compare the third and fifth grade reading achievement of ELLs to that of mainstream students. The sample was comprised of 322 fifth grade students from a southwest Arizona school district. The sample included 64 ELL students who were enrolled in the school district continuously from kindergarten through fifth grade and 258 mainstream students who were educated within the district for third through fifth grade. Results of the one-way Analyses of Variance (ANOVA) and subsequent post hoc analyses revealed statistically significant differences in student achievement. ELLs who participated in the Structured English Immersion (SEI) program for three years or more by grade 3 and four or more years by grade 5, respectively, scored significantly lower than mainstream students on both administrations. Thus, the current SEI model mandated by the state of Arizona is not sufficiently supporting all ELLs.

Keywords: English Language Learners, Bilingual Education, English Only Policies

v

Dedication	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Abstract ^[L]	v
List of Tables	ix
List of Abbreviations	X
Chapter 1: Introduction	
Overview	
Statement of the Problem	
Purpose of the Study	
Research Questions/Hypotheses	
Definitions of Terms	9
Assumptions	
Limitations	
Delimitations	
Significance of the study	
Summary	
Chapter 2: Review of Literature	
Historical Account of ELL Funding — State and Federal Perspectives	
English Language Instruction in the United States	
Arizona's English Language Learners	
English Language Instruction in Arizona	
Arizona English Language Learner Assessment (AZELLA)	

Table of Contents

	Arizona's Instrument to Measure Standards (AIMS)	. 32
	Challenges Faced by English Language Learners	. 34
	Legislative Acts that Impact English Language Learners in Arizona	. 38
	Summary	. 45
С	hapter 3: Research Methodology	. 47
	Restatement of the Problem	. 47
	Restatement of Research Questions and Hypotheses	. 48
	Research Design	. 51
	Population and Sampling	. 52
	Sampling Procedures	. 53
	Sources of Information	. 54
	Reliability and Validity	. 54
	Data Collection	. 55
	Data Analysis Procedures	. 55
	G*Power analysis	. 56
	Summary	. 58
С	hapter 4: Findings and Results	. 59
	Descriptive Analysis	. 59
	Overview of the Findings	. 60
	Analysis of Third Grade AIMS Reading Scores	. 62
	Analysis of Fifth Grade AIMS Reading Scores	. 64
	Summary	. 68

Chapter 5: Summary, Conclusions, Implications, Recommendations, and Concluding	
Remarks	70
Summary of the Study	70
Conclusions	72
Implications for Practice	73
Recommendations for Future Studies	75
Concluding Remarks	78
References	79
Appendix A: IRB Approval	90
Appendix B: Superintendent's Permission for Data Use	91
Appendix C: Author's Biography	92

List of Tables

Table 1. Study Sample Grouping Scheme	. 9
Table 2. Average Number of Years Spent in Each Stage of English Fluency for Pupils	
Ages 6-11	17
Table 3. Example of the 2012 ELP Standards ELL Stage II, Listening and Speaking	
Grades 1-2	29
Table 4. Study Sample by SEI Program Tenure	53
Table 5. Study Sample Grouping Scheme	57
Table 6. Number of ELLs Per Grade Level and Academic Year	58
Table 7. Descriptive Statistics of the Third and Fifth Grade AIMS Reading Scores	60
Table 8. Overview of All Findings	61

List of Abbreviations

- AZELLA: Arizona's English Language Learner Assessment
- AIMS: Arizona's Instrument to Measure Standards
- ADE: Arizona Department of Education
- **DBE:** Developmental Bilingual Education
- **DPA:** Dual Purpose Assessment
- **DSI**: Discrete Skills Inventory
- **ELA:** English Language Arts
- **ELD:** English Language Development
- ELL: English Language Learner
- **ELP:** English Language Proficient
- **ESL:** English as a Second Language
- FAPE: Free Appropriate Public Education
- **HI:** High Intermediate
- **ILLP:** Individual Language Learner Plan
- **LEA:** Local Education Agency
- **LEP:** Limited English Proficient
- **NEGD:** Non-Equivalent Group Design
- NAEP: National Assessment of Educational Progress
- **OELAS:** Office of English Language Acquisition Services
- **PHLOTE:** Primary Home Language Other Than English
- **SEI:** Structured English Immersion
- **SES:** Socio-Economic Status

TBE: Transitional Bilingual Education

USDOE: U.S. Department of Education

Chapter 1: Introduction

In 2006, the Arizona House of Representatives passed Arizona H.R. 2064 mandating that all public schools assess the English proficiency of all students whose primary or home language is not English (H.R. 2064, 47th Leg., Reg. Sess., Ariz., 2006). The Bill mandates that students who are not English language proficient be placed in structured immersion programs, which are, often, classrooms constructed solely of students with similar language proficiency. Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 15-752 (2006) states:

All children in Arizona public schools shall be taught English by being taught in English and all children shall be placed in English language classrooms. Children who are English learners shall be educated through sheltered English immersion during a temporary transition period not normally intended to exceed one year. Unfortunately, in the district of study, students typically remain in the structured English immersion (SEI) program for more than the one year intended by the law.

Overview

Arizona legislators proposed Proposition 203 (Arizona Secretary of State, 2000) which mandated English only instruction in 2000 (Arizona Association for Bilingual Education, 2000); it was subsequently approved by Arizona's voters. Proposition 203 was followed by Ariz. H.R. 2064 in 2006. These two actions were proposed to satisfy court rulings in the lawsuit *Flores v. Arizona,* which had been ongoing since 1992. In an effort to demonstrate compliance with the courts' rulings and commitment to the education of Arizona's English Language Learner (ELL) population, legislators included provisions such as funding and targeted English Language instruction. This funding to Local Education Agencies (LEAs) was limited to two years for a student placed in the SEI setting, based on language proficiency as determined by Arizona's English Language Learner Assessment (AZELLA). Within Ariz. H.R. 2064, legislators also included a mandatory four-hour block of English Language-rich instruction (Arizona State Legislature, 2006). The four-hour block of intensive English language instruction was to take place in an English Language Development (ELD) classroom setting, thus essentially segregating ELLs from English-proficient students, as well as from the content-rich instruction received by their English-proficient peers.

The implementation of Proposition 203 and Ariz. H.R. 2064 raise a question: Were these two pieces of legislation in the best interest of Arizona's limited English proficient (LEP) population? After the implementation of Ariz. H.R. 2064 in 2006, the National Assessment of Educational Progress (NAEP) showed a widening achievement gap between the ELLs in Arizona and the national average. Data from the NAEP in 2010-2011 revealed that only 42% of the ELLs in Arizona were proficient in fourth grade basic math compared to 70% of mainstreamed Latino peers and 89% Caucasian peers (Jimenez-Castellanos, Combs, Martinez, & Gomez, 2013).

Students labeled ELLs are being separated from their mainstream classroom peers and placed into SEI classrooms. The ELD instruction within SEI classrooms includes four hours of rich language arts instruction including; reading, writing, listening, and speaking as per the Discrete Skills Inventory (DSI) which was derived from the Arizona K-12 ELL proficiency standards (Arizona Department of Education [ADE], 2008b). After students complete four hours of intense English language curriculum, explorations (physical education, art, music, and technology), lunch, transition time, and restroom breaks, there is a total remaining instructional time of approximately 90 minutes for math, science, and social studies. In 2008, Arizona was in the bottom third of fourth grade math proficiency in the United States (United States Department of Education [USDOE], 2009) and, according to the Migration Policy Institute, had 166,000 ELLs in 2007-2008, 90% of whom spoke Spanish primarily (Jimenez-Castellanos, Combs, Martinez, & Gomez, 2013). While fourth and 8th grade ELLs s demonstrated small achievement gains in reading, student achievement was still low with only 26% of fourth graders reading at or above grade level proficiency (Arizona Indicators, n.d.).

Statement of the Problem

This research examines how the Language Arts rich environment of SEI classrooms affect the reading achievement of ELLs, based on the reading subtest of the Arizona's Instrument to Measure Standards (AIMS) annual assessment. ELLs are being segregated into SEI classrooms where most of their day focuses on English language skills: 30 minutes of oral English and conversation instruction, 60 minutes of grammar instruction, 60 minutes of reading instruction, 60 minutes of vocabulary instruction, and 30 minutes of writing instruction (ADE, 2008b).

The crafters of Proposition 203 stated:

The government and the public schools of Arizona have a moral obligation and a constitutional duty to provide all of Arizona's children, regardless of their ethnicity or national origins, with the skills necessary to become productive members of our society. Of these skills, literacy in the English language is among the most important. (Proposition 203, 2000)

3

For students to actively participate in future global competition, they will need to receive a well-rounded education which includes the ability to work in multicultural environments and strong science and math knowledge (Clough, 2008, p. 59-60), all of which may be compromised when students are confined to SEI classrooms. Therefore, this study will identify whether there is a significant difference in reading achievement between students who received the required four hours of specific ELD instruction in the SEI classroom and students who were in mainstream classrooms receiving a balanced curricula of language arts, math, science, and social studies.

Purpose of the Study

Educators and legislators constantly provide personal opinions of the effectiveness of the SEI model on the reading and math achievement of ELLs. There are many opportunities within the SEI model for study; for example, the lack of time for science, social studies, and math, or how students may be grouped in up to three grade bands within a single classroom because of their English language proficiency. However, the emphasis of what is considered an abundance of instructional time for the specific language arts and math instruction are opinions that directly affect ELLs when it comes to standardized state assessments.

The purpose of this study was to determine how instructional mandates from Ariz. H.R. 2064 and Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 15-751 – 15-756 affect the academic progress of ELLs in reading. Quantitative analysis was used to determine ELLs' reading achievement based on the AIMS annual assessment.

Research Questions/Hypotheses

In this study, students were grouped based on their tenure in SEI programs. Table 1 lists all of the groups under study. Based on this grouping scheme, the research questions and hypotheses in this study were:

RQ1. Was there a statistically significant difference between the third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who did?

 H_01 : Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI.

H1: Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI.

RQ1a. What was the difference between the third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for one year?

 H_01a : Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for one year.

H1a: Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for one year.

RQ1b. What was the difference between the third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for two years?

 H_01b : Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for two years.

H1b: Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for two years.

RQ1c. What was the difference between the third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for three or more years?

 H_01c : Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for three or more years.

H1c: Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for three or more years.

RQ2. Was there a statistically significant difference between the fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who did?

 H_02 : Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI.

H2: Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI.

RQ2a. What was the difference between the fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for one year?

 H_02a : Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for one year.

H2a: Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for one year.

RQ2b. What was the difference between the fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for two years?

 H_02b : Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for two years.

H2b: Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for two years.

RQ2c. What was the difference between the fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for three years?

 H_02c : Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for three years.

H2c: Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for three years.

RQ2d. What was the difference between the fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for four or more years?

 H_02d : Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for four or more years.

H2d: Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for four or more years.

Table 1

Study Sample Grouping Scheme

SEI Program Tenure	3rd Grade	5th Grade
Never (Mainstream)	Х	Х
One Year	Х	Х
Two Years	Х	Х
Three or More Years	Х	-
Three Years		Х
Four or More Years		Х

Definitions of Terms

Arizona's Instrument to Measure Standards (AIMS). A standardized assessment which was taken each spring in grades 3 through 8 and again in grade 10; reading and mathematics were assessed in each of the grades; writing was assessed in grades 5 through 7 and again in grade 10; Science was assessed in grades 4, 8 and 10 (ADE, n.d.a.).

Arizona's English Language Learner Assessment (AZELLA). Assesses the English proficiency of K-12 students. Students are assessed in oral language (includes listening and speaking), reading and writing. A composite score is used to identify students as pre-emergent, emergent, basic, intermediate, or proficient (ADE, n.d.b.).

Bilingual education. Also known as Dual Language education, bilingual education is an umbrella term for many types of programs in which two languages are used for instruction. Bilingual and Dual Language programs encourage bilingualism and

biliteracy, allowing students to maintain their native language while acquiring another language (Center for Applied Linguistics, 2017).

Criterion-referenced test. Tests designed to measure test-takers' performance against predetermined criteria. Students taking a criterion-referenced test are measured against learning standards (Criterion-Referenced Test, n.d.).

Discrete Skills Inventory (DSI). A list of specific teaching and learning objectives derived from the Arizona K-12 English language learner proficiency standards, which are approved by the Arizona State Board of Education (ADE, 2008b).

English language development (ELD) instruction. Instruction that focuses on English language acquisition. ELD instruction includes phonology, morphology, syntax, lexicon, and semantics (ADE, 2008b).

Free appropriate public education (FAPE). Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 requires a school district to provide a "free appropriate public education" to each qualified person with a disability who is in the school district's jurisdiction, regardless of the nature or severity of the person's disability (USDOE, 2010).

Hispanic. A member of an ethnic group that traces its roots to 20 Spanishspeaking nations from Latin America and Spain, but not Portugal or Portuguese-speaking nations (Passel & Taylor, 2009).

Individual language learner plan (ILLP). Provides specific instructions for how ELLs will be provided specialized English language support within mainstream classrooms in Arizona (ADE, 2011b). **Latino.** A member of an ethnic group that traces its roots to 20 Spanish-speaking nations from Latin America and Spain, but not Portugal or Portuguese-speaking nations (Passel & Taylor, 2009).

Norm-referenced test. A standardized test designed to compare and rank testtakers against one another (Norm-Referenced Test, n.d.).

Office of English Language Acquisition Services (OELAS). Provides guidance, assistance, and support to all of Arizona's schools in service to Arizona's English language learner population (Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 15-756.07, n.d.).

Primary home language other than English (PHLOTE). Determined by a survey that the parents or guardian complete for a student upon school enrollment (ADE, 2008b).

Proficiency level. Refers to the level of English language proficiency of a student as determined by the AZELLA (ADE, 2008b).

Strand. Structural curriculum elements that specify the organization of content for the purpose of planning for student learning. The term 'strands' is used to indicate: (a) the disciplines within a learning area. Each discipline has unique associated goals for learning. (b) Domains that group related general and specific learning outcomes or achievement aims and objectives within a particular learning area or discipline (Curriculum Strands, n.d.).

Structured English immersion (SEI) classroom. A classroom in which all students are of limited English language proficiency as measured by the AZELLA (ADE, 2008b).

11

Structured English immersion (SEI) models. Models for instructing ELLs that have been approved by Arizona's OELAS (ADE, 2008b).

Structured English immersion (SEI) program. An intensive English language teaching program designed to accelerate the learning of the English language for non-proficient English speakers, as designated by the AZELLA (ADE, 2008b).

Assumptions

Assumptions of this study were:

- Academic instruction to ELLs was provided in accordance with Arizona's mandates and learning standards.
- All six participating schools had access to the same curriculum and curricular support for all ELLs enrolled in SEI classrooms and mainstream classroom peer groups.

Limitations

Limitations of this study include:

- 1. The results from the students in one elementary school district in southwest Arizona may not be generalizable to students in other locations or contextual circumstances, including those form a different socioeconomic status (SES).
- Classroom configurations at each of the six elementary schools varied and some ELLs may have been in combined grade level classrooms (e.g. third/fourth grade combinations) or placed on an ILLP for English language instruction. Thus, the results from these students may not generalize to students in a different classroom configuration.

3. The sample size of the ELLs waned over time as the students either exited from the SEI program or departed the district. Thus, it is difficult to draw conclusions about longitudinal effects of SEI programs.

Delimitations

Delimitations of this study were:

- The data analysis was limited to a cohort of students who were continuously enrolled in one of six elementary schools in one elementary school district in southwest Arizona from kindergarten through fifth grades.
- 2. Data were limited to one standardized assessment, the AIMS.
- 3. Analysis was only used to compare the third and fifth grade AIMS reading achievement results of mainstream fifth grade students who have never received SEI instruction with students who have been in SEI classrooms.

Significance of the study

This study was used to develop recommendations that will help decision makers decide to maintain current practices, expand existing programs, and/or completely change current methods of supporting ELLs. According to the 9th Circuit Court of Appeals in June of 2015, "The four-hour model was a relatively recent program and there was not a lot of evidence on ELL performance" (Flores v. Arizona, 2015, slip op. at 1). The analyzed data will help determine the effectiveness of the SEI model with respect to reading proficiency of ELLs assigned to SEI classrooms. Currently, there are only two options available for providing ELL support;

1. enrollment in SEI classrooms, or

 parents of ELLs may opt students out of the ELL program, and the student receive only general curriculum instruction in mainstream classrooms (ADE, 2008b).

Results of data collected from this causal-comparative, ex post-facto, quantitative study examined the impact of instruction in SEI classrooms on reading achievement for ELLs relative to their mainstream peers who never received SEI instruction. The findings from this study will benefit key stakeholders including policy makers, administrators, teachers, and parents as they make decisions about adopting the best instructional models for educating the ELLs.

Summary

Chapter 1 described Arizona's mandates from Proposition 203 and Ariz. H.R. 2064 and the relevance of this legislation to ELLs and ELD instruction. The passage of both pieces of legislation begs the question: Were these two pieces of legislation in the best interest of Arizona's LEP population? The purpose of this study was to determine whether Arizona's legislation has had an effect on reading outcomes of Arizona's ELL population. The next chapter will include a review of the relevant literature.

Chapter 2: Review of Literature

In 2000, Arizona legislators proposed, and voters approved, Proposition 203 which mandated English only instruction. Six years later, Ariz. H.R. 2064 was passed. These decisions were made to partially satisfy court rulings in the lawsuit *Flores v*. Arizona, which had been ongoing since 1992. The Flores v. Arizona court case increased the nation's attention on the learning needs of ELLs. According to Susan Carroll (2006), the lawsuit was originally filed in 1992 by the lawyers of the Arizona Center for Law in the Public Interest on behalf of a Nogales parent; however, upon realizing the original case may not be successful, they named Miriam Flores as the main plaintiff. In 2000, U.S. District Court judge Alfredo Marquez ruled that the state provided a funding level for English learners that was "arbitrary and capricious" and failed to provide enough teachers, teachers' aides, classrooms, materials and tutoring for these students (Flores v. Arizona, 2015, slip op. at 1). On 1 September 2006, after years of debates, rebuttals, and appeals Arizona established the Structured English Immersion Task Force to construct a viable plan to teach ELLs. Their task, according to the ADE, was to develop and adopt research-based models of SEI programs for use in public and charter schools in Arizona.

The outcome of the task force, Proposition 203, and Ariz. H.R. 2064 was the creation of SEI classrooms in which Arizona's ELLs (students who do not demonstrate proficiency on AZELLA) spend most of their instructional time focused on the development of English language skills, particularly reading, writing, listening, and speaking, via "English only" instruction. In 2015 plaintiffs challenged the four-hour model of SEI classroom and argued that it was a form of segregation due to the isolation

of ELLs into SEI classrooms for the majority of the school day. The 9th Circuit Court of Appeals ruled that ELLs were appropriately exposed to academic content at some time during their education and the four-hour model was a relatively recent program, so there was not enough evidence to support the claims of segregation (Flores v. Arizona, 2015, slip op. at 1).

Only Arizona and three other states (California, Massachusetts, and New Hampshire) have laws constraining the use of bilingual education programs ("United States," 2015). By comparison, five states (Connecticut, Illinois, New Jersey, New York, and Texas) mandate that school districts provide bilingual education programs to students when there are 20 or more ELLs in the same grade level, who have the same home language (p. 88). The U.S. Department of Education also lists seven other states (Delaware, Georgia, New Mexico, North Carolina, Rhode Island, Utah, and Washington) that value and promote the use of dual language or bilingual education programs (p. 89). A key feature of Arizona's H.R. 2064 is that students are to stay in the SEI program for one year only (Ariz. H.R. 2064). However, Arizona's Department of Education has shown some apprehension about the timeline. ADE's A-F Letter Grade Accountability System Technical Manual (A-F Letter, 2011) specifies that bonus points are awarded to schools with 16 or more ELL students when:

- ELL students are enrolled continuously in the ELL program within the school for at least 150 calendar days
- 30% of their ELL students reclassify to proficient according to the Arizona English Language Learner Assessment (AZELLA). (p14)

This bonus structure begs the question: If Arizona legislators believe that students will be be proficient in English language after one year of SEI then why is 30% proficiency reclassification considered acceptable? Additionally, why do they fund the program for 2 years per student?

Research shows that language acquisition takes longer than one or two years. Demie (2013) found that students require five to seven years to become fully confident in their use of the English language. Moreover, Demie found that acquiring English takes approximately 6.8 years for Spanish-speaking students (see Table 2). This is 4.8 years longer than SEI is funded in Arizona, which has a large Spanish-speaking ELL population.

Table 2

Average Number of Years Spent in Each Stage of English Fluency for Spanish-Speaking

Pu	nils	s A	26	25 (5—	11
1 11	pu	, , ,	50	0	, .	

Stage	Years in Stage		
1: Beginners & New to English	1.5		
2: Becoming Familiar with English	2.6		
3: Becoming Confident as user of English	2.7		

Note. Adapted from "English as an additional language pupils: How long does it take to acquire English fluency?" by F. Demie, 2013, *Language & Education: An International Journal*, 27(1), p. 66. Copyright 2013 by Taylor & Francis Ltd.

Cook, Boals, and Lunberg's (2011) research also shows that language acquisition requires more time than Ariz. H.R. 2064 stipulates. The researchers found that ELL students achieved proficiency at different rates based on the students' initial language proficiency, home environment, and culture. For example, they found that, "Two-thirds of students starting at an [English Language Proficiency] level of 4 attained proficiency in five years" (p. 68), while only 10% of those who started at minimally proficient levels gained proficiency in the same five-year span. Thus, initial proficiency levels affect proficiency rates over time.

Historical Account of ELL Funding — State and Federal Perspectives

Beginning in 1967, the federal government enacted Title VII funding of bilingual programs to meet the educational needs of the nation's growing population of ELLs. Initially, funds were obtained by districts that went through the proposal process. Yet, although funds were available starting in 1967, it was not until 10 years later, after the 1974 Supreme Court case of Lau v. Nichols, that bilingual education services became widespread in schools across the country.

Between 1990 and 1998, federal funding for LEP students increased from approximately \$189 to \$204 million. At the same time, the LEP population increased to more than 5.3 million by 2008-09, with most of the LEP population residing in California, Texas, Illinois, Florida, and New York (Odden & Picus, 2014, p. 135). Thus, the per student funding was approximately \$38 – hardly an adequate amount to ensure access to equal and equitable educational opportunities. In 2002, the original Title VII was absorbed into the No Child Left Behind Act (NCLB) and given the new name of Title III. Under Title III, funding was offered through two grants; one provided for English language acquisition programs and the other for the improvement of those programs. Calculation of grant money follows an 80/20 split, with 80% of the funding based on LEP student headcount and the remaining portion dependent on the number of immigrant students enrolled within a local education agency (LEA). According to Odden and Picus (2014), estimates for Title III funding exceeded \$730 million for the 2011-12 academic year. Given the growing population of LEPs, LEAs only receive a minimal amount of the \$730 million; for example, a district in the west valley of Phoenix with an ELL enrollment of 284 students only received \$84,000 which is used to compensate one full-time teacher with benefits (ADE, 2012b).

English Language Instruction in the United States

Prior to Arizona's Proposition 203, which introduced English only instruction, bilingual and dual language programs were used to support ELLs. During the 1960s Mexican Americans and Puerto Ricans had also initiated movements to have their home language and cultures incorporated into public education. In Los Angeles, Mexican American students began a movement to increase bilingual teachers and resources in public schools; they boycotted four Los Angeles high schools demanding that the schools hire more Spanish speaking teachers, provide Mexican food in cafeterias, and fire teachers who "appeared" prejudiced against Mexican Americans. During this time, Native Americans were also pursuing bilingual and bicultural education (Spring, 2008). In 1968 the federal government passed the Bilingual Education Act, also known as Title VII of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA). All of the efforts made by Latino and Native American groups to increase cultural resources and bilingual education were erased in 2001 by the reauthorization of Title I of the 1965 Elementary and Secondary Education Act (ESEA) called No Child Left Behind (NCLB). Title I mandated that public schools teach English without support for minority languages; therefore, federal resources were redirected toward English acquisition and away from bilingual education (Spring, 2008).

Research has emphasized the importance of incorporating culture and home language into curriculum for ELLs. Specifically, Haas and Gort (2009) suggested three principles of quality education for ELLs.

- Principle 1: Build on children's home language to develop English, and if possible,
- Principle 2: Foster the preservation of the home language and encourage bilingualism and outcomes for ELLs (p. 124).
- Principle 3: Quality instruction for ELLs requires the continued successful integration of language and content teaching (p. 126).

Currently, Arizona's monolingual "English only" model does not embrace these three principles; Arizona does not permit utilization students' non-English native languages in public school classroom instruction. This, in essence, denies students their cultural identity.

Haas and Gort maintain that home language integration is a key component for ELL success; however, Pacheco's (2010) year-long study of a bilingual school, demonstrates that teachers' failure to properly interact with students and families can be more detrimental than not having the use of ELLs native language. Good, Masewicz, and Vogel (2010) drew a similar conclusion. Their qualitative study explored barriers to academic achievement for Latino ELLs. The authors claimed that traditional Hispanic family cultural values and beliefs focus on relationships and not on competitive factors such as academic achievement. Five themes emerged from their study:

- 1. communication gaps,
- 2. lack of support,
- 3. lack of teacher preparation,
- 4. lack of a systemic, articulated district ELL plan, and
- 5. cultural clashes.

Cultural clashes occurred because families who emigrated from Mexico perceived teachers as extensions of their own families and expected the teachers to be as committed to the students as they would be to their own children. The parents' perspectives on communication were cultural concern due to their emphasis on relationships over simple language. A primary concern by parents and ELL teachers was the lack of multicultural preparation of the teachers. The findings of Good et al. (2010) were similar to those of Pacheco which included:

- 1. Teachers held low expectations of ELL and devalued the students' native culture and language, and
- 2. Students were blamed for their own low academic achievement.

The research in English learner education demonstrates that academic vocabulary and ideology is affecting ELLs' overall achievement in all subjects. To support the theory, Ernst-Slavit and Mason (2001) examined oral academic language used by teachers during mathematics, social studies, and language arts instruction in mainstream classrooms. They found that ELLs had limited understanding of the academic language; however, the authors argued that ELLs can be successful if the teachers utilize specialized content language. The researchers also argued that ELLs had few opportunities to hear specialized language from their teachers during content instruction, which hindered their ability to fully understand the content.

Math experts have provided strategies to support and improve ELLs' math achievement (Willig, Bresser, Melanese, Sphar, & Felux, 2010). Some strategies include providing extended time for students to develop responses and providing students with cues instead of giving them the answer. The following is an example of how to prevent mimicry by students.

Teacher: How do you solve the problem?

Student: Shrugs his shoulders.

Teacher: What would you do first?

The successful use of the strategy depends on the students responding cognitively, therefore allowing the teacher to assess student understanding. To further reduce mimicry, the math experts also recommended relating key concepts to personal experiences. One expert, Pat Roth, provided an example of asking a student from Holland to recite a term in Dutch before saying it in English (Willig et al., 2010). This type of recommendation is not endorsed in English only instruction, and thus illustrates how ELLs are denied access to their culture in the classroom. Another support strategy is to use Socratic or open-ended questions, such as "Why would you say that?" This type of questioning may help identify and properly support LEP students' language and academic needs. When using this technique, teachers must be cognizant of the additional time ELLs need to craft a thoughtful response.

Bilingual Education

Ariz. H.R. 2064 states that students should remain in the Structured English Immersion (SEI) program for only one school year. There is evidence that models similar to the SEI program could be successful. One such example is a six-year longitudinal study of 11,000 students from several New York City public elementary schools in first through sixth grades (Conger, 2010, pp. 1108-1112). The study included English speaking, Spanish speaking, and Chinese speaking students. Upon surveying the 69 English-language instruction teachers, the researchers found that the Spanish bilingual program was supported with both Spanish and English teacher resources, including textbooks and additional student material, whereas the Chinese bilingual program was limited to English language teacher resources, including textbooks and additional student resources. In both situations the teachers spoke English and the students' native languages to support instruction. Conger (2010) found that students who were well supported with their native language in the classrooms had better academic outcomes than students who were minimally supported with their native languages. Conger further compared the Bilingual program to an English as a Second Language (ESL) program in the New York City school district. The ESL program allowed the English Learners (EL) to receive instruction in mainstream classrooms for much of the day, but they they were pulled out of the classroom for small group instruction which included English grammar, vocabulary and communication which was taught entirely in the English language. Results were that 66% of the ESL students were still classified as ELs after one year

23

while 90% of students in the bilingual education programs were still considered ELs. Yet, despite this seemingly negative impact of bilingual education, the longitudinal data revealed that the gap narrowed over several years and fewer bilingual program students remained ELs than ESL program students.

Moreno (2012) found similar outcomes in bilingual programs that focus on replacing students' native language instead of using students' native language to scaffold support for teaching academic content in English. Specifically, Moreno found that not attending to learning content first resulted in failure to promote English proficiency, which in turn produced low academic achievement results. Thus, it stands to reason that people who learn second languages do not have to relearn basic facts such as math algorithms, just translated words. Providing various examples in students' native language may support their higher-level thinking skills.

Hellekjaer (1999) also suggests that teaching content should be the highest priority and learning a second language should be a lower priority. Students who struggle with comprehension of a second language are usually struggling to make inferences because they lack cultural or factual content knowledge. Similar to a highly proficient math teacher's ability to use inquiry-based math instructional methods rather than algorithms to build a strong base knowledge for the students, teachers who are highly proficient in their students' native language can bridge the gap between mere definition and true understanding.

Language research shows that children with strong academic backgrounds in their heritage language will be able to build upon that strong educational foundation when acquiring a second language (Hellekjaer, 1999). In their extensive review of language

24

acquisition, Faulkner-Bond, Waring, Crenshaw, Tindle, and Belknap (2012) identified two types of bilingual programs. The first was transitional bilingual education (TBE), also known as early-exit bilingual education. Typically beginning in grades K or 1, TBE students receive most of their academic instruction in their native language and transition to English over time until the instruction is presented primarily in English, which typically occurs in middle school. The second program type was developmental bilingual education (DBE), also known as late-exit bilingual or maintenance bilingual education. Like TBE, DBE also begins in grades K or 1 and students initially receive most of their academic instruction in their native language then transition to English over time. However, the native language and English language are used equally through completion of elementary school, even if the students attain full English language proficiency. Faulkner-Bond et al. suggest that bilingual programs can and should employ English as a Second Language (ESL) best practices and at least four of the studies they reviewed found that bilingual programs that utilize students' native language to support instruction over time appear to have better outcomes than using only ESL methods.

All of the bilingual programs and associated research studies mentioned in this subsection suggest that more time is needed for ELLs to 1) become English Language proficient, and 2) become academically proficient. It is probable that the recommended amount of time for bilingual education success and the need for teachers who are fluent in foreign languages have influenced policy makers to move to English-only Immersion programs.
Arizona's English Language Learners

Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 15-752 (2006) mandates all students in Arizona shall be taught in English, and students who are identified as ELLs will be educated in sheltered English classrooms. Schools are encouraged to place ELLs of similar English language proficiency regardless of age or foreign language into the same classrooms to learn English (Arizona State Legislature, n.d.). Identification of ELLs is directed by Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 15-756 (n.d.) which mandates that all public and charter schools identify the home language for all new students at the time of enrollment. Parents are required to complete a PHLOTE survey indicating if English or another language other than English is spoken at home. Students who have a home language other than English spoken at home will take the AZELLA to determine their English language proficiency (ADE, 2013b; Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 15-756, n.d.) The AZELLA results determine students' English language proficiency of pre-emergent, emergent, basic, intermediate, or proficient; any student with an overall composite score below proficiency are classified as an ELL and enrolled into an English language program.

English Language Instruction in Arizona

For fiscal year 2014, ADE reported that 77% of the 85,000 identified ELLs in Arizona were in grades K-5, 13% were in grades 6-8, and the remaining 10% were in grades 9-12 (Koenig, 2015). Also, English language instruction in Arizona occurred predominately in the SEI Classroom during 2014. Finally, ADE (as cited in Koenig, 2015) reported that 72% of ELL students received ELL services in the SEI classroom and 27% were served on an Individual Language Learner Plan (ILLP) in 2014; the remaining 1% received services via a bilingual waiver. ADE requirements for the SEI classroom include a minimum of four hours of ELD instruction daily that focuses on Arizona's English Language Proficiency (ELP) standards. The daily four-hour block must be constructed with targeted instruction in the five areas of reading (60 minutes), writing (60 minutes), grammar (60 minutes), and oral language and vocabulary (60 minutes). The Office of English Language Acquisition Services (OELAS) of ADE differentiates SEI instruction from general education instruction as follows:

ELD is a type of instruction that has as its orientation the teaching of English language skills to student who are in the process of learning English. It is distinguished from other types of instruction, e.g. math, science, or social science, in that the content of ELD emphasizes the English language itself. ELD instruction focuses on phonology (pronunciation – the sound system of a language), morphology (the internal structure and forms of words), syntax (English word order rules), lexicon (vocabulary), and semantics (how to use English in different situations and contexts). While there are some obvious connections to English language arts instruction, ELD is foundational for English language acquisition work, since listening, speaking, reading, and writing tasks conducted in English are considerably more difficult in the absence of knowledge about how English operates. Reading and writing, aligned to the Arizona K-12 English Language Learner Proficiency Standards, are also considered content in SEI classrooms (ADE, 2008a, p.3).

The English Language Proficiency (ELP) Standards include a strong grammatical foundation that is very important to language acquisition process. The ELPs have been

27

created to incorporate Common Core language skills (ADE, 2012a). In 2012 an "all inclusive" ELP Standards document was created to help teachers plan and prepare for instruction delivery. Features of the 2012 "all inclusive" document include:

- 1. The integration of the Discrete Skills Inventory (DSI)
- 2. Standard English conventions were added to the language strand to teach the grammar component of the SEI model, and
- 3. The language strand now includes vocabulary standards.

ADE has also advised SEI classroom teachers to teach to the high intermediate (HI) level and not rush to provide scaffold support to the students (ADE, 2012a). ADE has provided this guidance because the HI performance indicators are closest to the expectations of non-ELL students. Thus, if ELL students can perform at the HI level, they should be able to pass AZELLA and be on par with their English-speaking peers in the area of English Language Arts (ELA) as shown in Table 3.

Table 3

Example of the 2012 ELP Standards — ELL Stage II, Listening and Speaking: Grades 1-

2

	Level of Proficiency				
	Pre-	Emergent	Basic	Low	High
Standard	Emergent			Intermediate	Intermediate
	The student will demonstrate understanding of oral communications by:				
Std 1: The student will listen actively to the ideas of others in order to acquire new knowledge	identifying phonemes in the initial and/or final positions of words.	distinguishing between phonemes in the initial, medial, and final positions of words.	distinguishing between phonemes in the initial, medial, and final positions of words and phrases (minimal pairs, minimal phrases).	distinguishing between phonemes in the initial, medial, and final positions of words, phrases and sentences with instructional support (minimal phrases, minimal sentences).	distinguishing between phonemes in the initial, medial, and final positions of words, phrases and sentences.

Note. Adapted from "English Language Proficiency Standards" by Arizona Department

of Education. Copyright 2012 by Author.

Once the students are initially enrolled in the SEI program they may exit the

program (ADE, 2014a) if they are:

1. Reclassified as Fluent English Proficient (FEP) through reassessment

- 2. Withdrawn by parent request
- 3. Withdrawn due to SPED criteria.

ELLs who are reclassified after a single year in an SEI classroom may have the best opportunity to benefit from the full curriculum that their mainstream peers receive; however, many ELLs are enrolled in the SEI classrooms for multiple school years.

Arizona English Language Learner Assessment (AZELLA)

The AZELLA was developed to assess student proficiency in accordance with Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 15-756 (2006) which mandates that all students' English language proficiency be assessed. The AZELLA is a criterion-referenced test designed to measure students' English language proficiency, based on the Arizona English Language Proficiency Standards (ELPS; ADE, 2014a, p. 26). There are four domains tested in the AZELLA, they include:

- Listening Students listen to an audio recording of selected passages and respond to multiple choice questions on paper.
- Reading The students read passages and answer two to four multiple choice questions per passage.
- 3. Writing The writing sub-test includes both multiple choice and open-ended questions. Students are able to provide extended writing responses for open-ended questions. The items in this sub-test include narrative, expository, persuasive, and functional types of text. Students are provided blank paper to use for prewriting and thought organization. The written sub-test is hand graded based on a rubric.

4. Speaking – The speaking portion includes the use of a telephone. Testers accompany students to a telephone and dial a number which connects to a state AZELLA site which provides automated questions to students. Students have to respond by speaking into the phone. Responses are recorded and scored electronically.

Each AZELLA domain has a scale score which ranges from 100 to 400 (ADE,

2014a). There are five proficiency levels identified from the AZELLA:

- Pre-Emergent Lowest proficiency level that will have a score of less than
 230
- 2. Emergent This level will have a score of less than 230
- 3. Basic The basic level also has a score of less than 230
- 4. Intermediate Intermediate level includes students who score 230-249
- Proficient Students are considered proficient in English language scoring 250 or greater.

The test creator, Harcourt Assessment, a division of Pearson, has demonstrated that the test is has strong internal consistency and inter-rater reliability and is therefore reliable (ADE, 2007a; ADE, 2013b). The validity of the AZELLA was ensured by:

involving Arizona educators, ADE, and Pearson (vendor/test creator) in the development process, the test construction which included field test items, operational test items and item content and bias review, and processes,

procedures, and policies for test administration (ADE, 2013b, pp. 298, 299).

The AZELLA is administered to students at least once per year until they achieve a composite score of proficient. Once students obtain a composite score of proficient, they are considered English proficient and are transferred into mainstream general education classrooms (OELAS, n.d.). Once ELLs have tested proficient on the AZELLA, they will be assessed again at the end of each year, for two years after they received the proficient classification. If a student who was previously in a SEI classroom fails to test proficient on the AZELLA for two years following his or her exit from the SEI classroom, the student will be reenrolled in the SEI classroom with parental consent (Arizona State Legislature, n.d.).

Arizona's Instrument to Measure Standards (AIMS)

No Child Left Behind (NCLB) required states to develop challenging academic standards and create assessments that were aligned with the NCLB achievement standards (USDOE, 2007). Arizona's standards-aligned assessment, Arizona's Instrument to Measure Standards (AIMS), was first administered to Arizona students in grades 3, 5, and 8 in 2000. At that time, it was a criterion-referenced assessment based on the 1996 Arizona State Standards. In 2005, the AIMS was administered to grades 3 through 8 and was constructed using Arizona's 2003 reading and math standards as well as the 2004 writing standards. The 2005 administration of AIMS also included norm-referenced items alongside the criterion referenced items, making it a dual-purpose assessment (DPA; ADE, 2013a). The addition of norm-referenced items allowed for comparison and evaluation of Arizona's student outcomes on a national level. All students, regardless of special education or limited English proficient (LEP) status, were required to take the AIMS annually until the final administration in 2014. Students' test

scores were used to assign a proficiency label of Exceeds (I), Meets (M), Approaches (A), or Falls Far Below (FFB) the standards.

NCLB, also set the following guidelines for assessments administered to LEP students were addressed with the following instructions:

- "The assessment system must be designed to be valid and accessible for use by the widest possible range of students, including students with disabilities and students with limited English proficiency" (USDOE, 2007, p. 4).
- The assessment system must ensure that LEP students are assessed without sacrificing validity and reliability and, at the same time, provide accommodations which may include, "...to the extent practicable, assessments in the language and form most likely to yield accurate and reliable information on what they know and can do in academic content areas, until such students have achieved English language proficiency" (USDOE, 2007, p. 4).
- Disaggregation of assessment results must include English proficiency status as its own category within each school and district (USDOE, 2007).

The U.S. Department of Education approved Arizona's reading and math assessments in June 2006. They received full approval with recommendations, which included providing additional support for English language learners. Recommendations to accommodate ELLs included linguistic accommodations, such as simplifying the English translations for math and science and including a CD with standardized translations. The accommodations recommended in the letter stated, "These accommodations are not in conflict with Arizona's English-only statutes and have proven to be effective and valid in other states" (Johnson, 2006). The recommendation of providing standardized translations of the AIMS for ELLs was never implemented.

Challenges Faced by English Language Learners

In 2007-2008, Arizona was in the bottom third of fourth grade reading proficiency in the United States with only 25% of students reading at or above proficient levels (USDOE, 2009). According to statistics from the Migration Policy Institute, Arizona had 166,000 ELLs students at that time, 90% of whom spoke Spanish (Jimenez-Castellanos, Combs, Martinez, & Gomez, 2013). While Arizona legislatures want the public to believe that the state is doing what is best for ELLs, the NAEP showed a widening achievement gap between Arizona's ELLs and those in the rest of the nation. Results from 2010-2011 found that only 42% of the ELLs in Arizona were proficient in fourth grade basic math compared to their mainstreamed Latino peers (70%) and Caucasian peers (89%) (Jimenez-Castellanos et al., 2013). Unfortunately, the ELLs may never catch up.

Today is your first day of second grade in the United States and you do not speak a word of English. You are in rural Georgia, and neither your classmates nor your teacher speak a word of Spanish, your primary language. You have arrived in the middle of the year, and the other students are fully competent in the routines of the classroom. The desks are arranged in groups of four, coats and backpacks hung along the wall. Some students sit in a reading corner, paging through books. You are ushered to a seat. As the day proceeds you carefully mirror the actions of your classmates. And you smile a lot. The teacher smiles back at you. You seem to be doing well. And as the days go on, you will do better and better. You will know when to go to the door, when to raise your hand (so as not to be called on), when to smile, when to stand and sit, when to sharpen your pencil, when to go to the restroom, and what to bring for lunch. You are learning how to be a student in this classroom, and you will polish these routines for years. You will learn them so well that you will not need to learn other important elements of student achievement. You will not learn how to read in English. You will not learn how to write. And gradually, you will not care about learning these things anymore. You will drop out. (Rymes & Pash, 2001)

Rymes and Pash (2001) describe the act of "being a student" as adapting to social routines a school setting to be perceived as ordinary and pass from grade to grade. Non-English speakers who have attended school anywhere, understand there are norms which all students learn and to which everyone in the system responds. In Rymes and Pash's study, ELL students who engaged in the "being a student" performance adapted to various teacher questioning strategies by mimicking other students or waiting for the teacher to give in and provide support. These strategies are called word games. For example:

Teacher: What is your favorite part of the story?

Student: [Shrugs his shoulders]

Teacher: Did you like it when Joey played with his dog BowWow?

Student: Yes, I have a dog too.

In the word game example, the student never demonstrates their knowledge of the story's content. One possible strategy ELL teachers could utilize to counter their students' word game playing strategies is the Socratic questioning technique.

Some of the perceived word games may represent a deficit in an ELLs working memory. Bumgarner, Martin and Brooks-Gunn (2013) studied the association between approaches to learning and math achievement in Hispanic immigrant students. The researchers concluded that ELLs had to retain greater amounts of information in their working memory to solve problems. When teachers attempt to scaffold learning for students, the wait time provided may not be sufficient to allow ELLs to recover background knowledge and/or translate information from their primary language into English, and then respond. The Arizona ELL stage III language standards rubric shows a distinct difference in proficiency and pre-emergent levels. The following example demonstrates the wide difference between pre-emergent and proficient third to fifth grade ELLs' vocabulary requirements for

- pre-emergent—repeating common contractions and identifying the words that comprise them,
- proficient—determining the meaning of compound words using knowledge of individual words (ADE, n.d.b.).

Some students who have acquired effective methods of performing the "being a student" routines have, unfortunately, been labeled as a special education student. When ELL students are able to convince teachers that their oral discourse is correlated to their

cognitive ability, teachers may be inclined to refer them for special education because their academic achievement is not aligned with their oral display of knowledge.

Student perceptions of what their teachers expect from them also play a role in student achievement (Bae, Holloway, Li, & Bempechat, 2008). If students believe that their teachers are pleased with their behavior, then they will continue to perform the same behaviors. Therefore, the SEI classroom teacher must be responsible for challenging the ELL students to become English language proficient as soon as possible.

A common assumption among Americans is that immigrants do not want to learn English; however, research demonstrates the opposite. In a two-year study by Warriner (2007), she recounts the plights of three women who emigrated from Sudan and believed that their abilities to succeed in America would be strongly influenced by their proficiency in the English language. Although they were adult learners who were able to select their program of study, two of three participants were unable to find well-paying jobs when they obtained English language proficiency. Warriner also highlighted a negative attitude towards language diversity in the United States and explained that bilingualism could contribute to threatening national unity. What is interesting about the attitude is that most of America's early immigrants were also Limited English Proficient.

Ideology plays an important role in the treatment of ELLs in and out of education. Children are more focused on social success with their peers than considering adulthood and future livelihood responsibilities. Their parents however, do understand the importance of their children's success, however their own limited English proficiency limits their ability to do more than agree with local educators about the importance of education. The second-grade student observed by Rymes and Pash (2001) was very

37

amiable and able to play the role of "being a student" well. However, Rymes noted that every time she visited the student's home, the mother would scurry the student into his room to do his homework and tell Rymes that she believed in the importance of education. What Rymes observed was that the student appeared to have another routine of going outside to play immediately upon arriving home from school and that there was little printed literature or material for learning in the home. Many Hispanic parents hold high hopes for their children's academic success; however, they struggle to support them with their homework and class projects due to their own limited English language skills (Bumgarner, Martin, & Brooks-Gunn, 2013).

Legislative Acts that Impact English Language Learners in Arizona

Fine, Jaffe-Walter, and Pedraza (2007) argue that if educators perceive LEP as an internal border that stands between students and academic success, they must also realize that people will attempt to cross the borders either as prescribed by laws, policies, and procedures, or through unauthorized means. In the case of elementary students, this may mean behaving in ways that they have learned will allow them to pass from grade to grade, with little English proficiency. This is where the debate of ideology continues. If the families who are new to communities are undocumented and not registered to vote, the decisions are still being made by the older members who no longer have children in schools. How are U.S. citizens, who wish to preserve traditions, going to influence illegal immigrants without violating their right to due process under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments? One measure used by legislators in Arizona was the introduction of Proposition 203, which repealed the former bilingual education laws.

Proposition 203 required all classes be taught in English and students who were classified as ELLs be placed into SEI classrooms (Arizona Secretary of State, 2000).

There are various models of ELL education throughout the country, including bilingual education, which many educators believe is more effective than English only instruction. In fact, when Proposition 203 was introduced in Arizona, educators primarily argued against the measure. According to the text of the proposed amendments to Proposition 203, Margaret Garcia Dugan of English for the Children of Arizona, Ron Unz of English for the Children of California, Congressman Matt Salmon, and Joel Harnett of Valley Citizens League argued in support of Proposition 203. In contrast, Penny Kotterman of the Arizona Education Association, Mary Setliff-Hodge of the Arizona English Teachers Association, Delight Diehn of the Arizona Teachers of English to Speakers of Other Languages organization, Kelsey Begaye of the Navajo Nation, Esther Furan Lumm of Arizona Hispanic Community Forum, and Lorraine Lee of English Plus More argued against Proposition 203. Additionally, the Arizona School Boards Association opposed Proposition 203 for "two reasons: it eliminates the authority of schools in offering programs based on the needs of their individual students, and it eliminates the choices of parents in selecting programs that best suit their children" (Arizona Secretary of State, 2000).

Proposition 203 was designed to assign ELLs to English immersion classrooms for one year; however, many students do not test as English language proficient after one year and have to remain in the segregated classrooms for several years (Jimenez-Castellanos et al., 2013). The passing of propositions to regulate or deny the use of any language other than English is, in effect, building borders to limit ELLs' academic success, which could be considered denying them FAPE. It appears that the internal education borders are specifically constructed. According to Fine, Jaffe-Walter, and Pedraza (2007), states with a Hispanic population above the national average, 67% are required to take high school exit exams, with the number rising to 89% by 2008; in contrast, only 13% of states with above-average populations of white students require high school exit exams (p. 78).

California passed similar measures (Proposition 227) requiring English only instruction for all students (Crawford, 1998). In 1997, California used bilingual programs to instruct approximately 30% of their English Language Learners (ELLs). Once Proposition 227 was enacted the percentage of ELLs being taught using bilingual instruction dropped to a mere 5% (Izumi, 2008). However, ten years after the passing of California's Prop 227, the effectiveness of the proposition at a state level remained unknown due to the state's less advanced student database system (Izumi, 2008). According to the Pacific Research Institute, ELs in some California school districts demonstrated significant improvement in academic achievement, however, the causes for this achievement were difficult to determine. One explanation Izumi (2008) offered was that specifically identifying ELs led to increased English language acquisition instruction. Other possible explanations offered by Izumi included: 1) teachers were not providing English-only instruction with fidelity and allowed students' native languages to be spoken in classrooms during instruction, and 2) administrators were slow to implement the provisions of the proposition.

The true impact of California's Prop 227 may never be truly known due to the introduction of Proposition 58: English language education, which repealed Proposition

227 in 2016. The three main provisions of Prop 58 include 1) the removal of restrictions to Bilingual programs, 2) a requirement for districts to respond to some parental demands for intensive English instruction, and 3) a requirement for school districts to communicate with community members about the English language learner programs available (California Legislative Analyst's Office, 2016). Such responsiveness to student needs becomes even more imperative in light of the changing demographics of the United States.

Researchers estimate that by 2030, two of every five American public school students will be learning English as a second language, and many of them will have been born in other countries (Shah & Cavanagh, 2012). The United States Census Bureau estimates there were 11.4 to 13.9 million foreign-born immigrants who entered the U.S. from 2000-2009 (Bhaskar, Arenas-Germosen, & Dick, 2013). Many of the immigrants are concentrated specifically in California, Florida, Hawaii, New York, Texas, Arizona, Colorado, Illinois, New Jersey, and New Mexico, which provide additional challenges for educators (Albo Carabelli, 2009, p. 117). With all indicators pointing toward significant growth in non-English and limited English speaking populations, one would assume that Arizona would find ways to embrace newcomers, along with plans to integrate their home cultures and languages, rather than attempting to sabotage true promises for success. Businesses have already embraced the entrance of newcomers. For example, education resource companies such as Pearson Education, McGraw-Hill, and Houghton Mifflin, are taking the opportunity to develop curriculum for teaching ELLs. Given Arizona's current ELL population and expected of growth within that demographic, it is

important to ensure that educators have the professional development and resources needed to tackle the unique challenges inherent to teaching this specialized population.

Ariz. H.R. 2064 required the state board of education to identify, for teachers, the qualifications for obtaining Structured English Immersion (SEI) endorsements. Although the provisions of the bill permitted alternate forms of training for teachers, the alternative training was required to be comparable in amount, scope, and quality, to courses offered by a university or college (H.R. 2064, 47th Leg., Reg. Sess., Ariz., 2006). Requiring teachers to take additional college courses to obtain the Structured English Immersion (SEI) endorsements required to become a fully certificated teacher in Arizona essentially placed the burden of funding the training on the teachers.

Ariz. H.R. 2064 was approved by Arizona's House of Representatives on February 27, 2006 with a vote of 31 Yeas and 27 Nays. All of the Yea votes were from Republicans. The Nay votes were divided; 20 Democrats and seven Republicans. After passing the House of Representatives, Ariz. H.R. 2064 moved to the Senate where it passed on March 2,2006 with a vote of 16 yeas and 13 nays. All of the Democratic senators and one Republican, Senator Thayer Verschoor, voted nay (Vote Smart, 2006). All sponsors of Arizona H.R. 2064 have left office since its passage. Ariz. H.R. 2064 was sponsored by Senator Chuck Gray (AZ - R). Co-sponsors included:

- Representative Judy Burges (AZ R)
- Representative Pamela Gorman (AZ R)
- Senator Karen S. Johnson (AZ R)
- Representative Rick Murphy (AZ R)
- Representative Russell K. Pearce (AZ R)

Law makers are adding capricious guidance to schools to appear sympathetic to student cultures. For example, Ariz. H.R. 2728 (H.R. 2728, 48th Leg., Reg. Sess., Ariz., 2007) was developed in 2007 to ensure that a student's cultural background was considered when 8th grade promotion criteria are being applied. This legislation is written to convey that the state is working in the best interest of these students' education, however, the bill fails to mention fiscal support for school districts as they implement the mandate.

Policy makers have a civic duty to be fiscally responsible, but have they gone too far with decisions in education? According to the Center for Student Achievement, Arizona's per-pupil spending in 1987 was slightly above the national average (\$3,941 vs. \$3,839, respectively). Unfortunately, by 2013 Arizona was ranked of 49th in the nation for spending per pupil for spending \$8,616 compared to the national average of \$12,552 (Center for Student Achievement, 2017). In addition to spending well below the national average per-pupil, student-teacher ratios in Arizona are very high compared to neighboring states, which means that schools in Arizona are placing more students in classrooms to maximize their resources (Center for Student Achievement, 2017). Thus, fiscal considerations appear to have more influence on Education spending than on students' needs. A key provision of Proposition 203 was that school districts would have to reallocate their normal funds to make up for any additional costs incurred by SEI programming. Additionally, proponents of the measure argued that the state would save a maximum of \$20.3 million from passage of the measure (Proposition 203, 2000). This information, may seem to indicate that saving money was a higher priority for the legislature than for ensuring equitable and appropriate education for Arizona's ELLs.

43

Interestingly, provisions for adequate fiscal resources to support the mandate were not included in the proposition.

To assist school districts in the implementation of Arizona's ELL mandates an ELL Task Force was created as a provision in Ariz. H.R. 2064 in 2006, after decades of court battles (Jimenez-Castellanos et al., 2013). The ELL task force was created to address English language education for children in public schools. Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 15-756.01 (2013) specified that the ELL task force (nine total) should be comprised of three members appointed by the superintendent of public instruction, two members appointed by the governor, two members appointed by the president of the senate, and two members appointed by the speaker of the house of representatives. The members of the task force were required to 1) serve four-year terms, and 2) elect a chairperson from among the members of the task force. Additionally, the ADE was required to provide staff support for the task force (H.R. 2064, 47th Leg., Reg. Sess., Ariz., 2006). The task force was responsible for developing research-based models of SEI programs for public and charter schools. They were also given parameters, including that ELL students must spend a minimum of four hours per day in English language development classrooms, and that the program should not exceed one year (Arizona State Legislature, 2006). Yet, many students remain in ELD classrooms for more than one year although state mandates will only allow school districts to calculate ELL funding for the first two years. The mandates do not incorporate student cultures or home languages into supports or resources for ELLs' academic needs or English language proficiency.

Wightman (2010) has identified many shortcomings in Arizona's model for educating ELLs. First, isolation of students into a classroom based on primary language and proficiency levels is problematic, but legal since it is considered to be akin to ability grouping. Since ability grouping is legal, use of SEI classrooms is not considered a form of segregation. Yet, there is pending litigation to determine whether Ariz. H.R. 2064 is constitutional. It is unlikely the bill would pass the three-prong test of sound educational theory, effective program implementation, and program effectiveness. Also, of concern is the method for determining proficiency. The validity and reliability of the current test is in question. Additional, points of concern are the lack of general education opportunities for ELLs, the lack of a research foundation for the model being used, and the unrealistic expectation that students will test "proficient" in one year despite research that shows it may take up to seven years for a student to obtain full academic language proficiency (Rymes & Pash, 2001). Nonetheless, it seems that Arizona legislators are beginning to realize that educators should be in control of educating students. Governor Brewer signed Ariz. H.R. 2425 on March 28, 2013 which replaces the ELL task force with the State Board of Education (H.R. 2425, 51st Leg., Reg. Sess., Ariz., 2013).

Summary

Chapter two provided a historical and legislative overview of ELL instruction in the United States and Arizona. The use of bilingual instruction provided support for ELLs by allowing teachers to use home language to create meaning and definition of academic content to limited language proficient students. In spite of the wealth of research that supports the benefits of bilingual education, the mandated English only instruction legislation in Arizona has made it illegal for public schools to provide the bilingual support to ELLs. Once students are identified as ELLs the methods of reading instruction become different from the education received by their mainstream peers, which may significantly impact their ability to obtain similar proficiency levels in reading. The one to two years of SEI instruction recommended and funded by the state of Arizona does not meet the widely recognized timeframe for attaining a level of language proficiency that would allow students to compete academically with their English-only peers. Research stipulates that students need an average of five to seven years to become fluent in English – enough that their level of proficiency no longer impedes their ability to gain academic knowledge at a level commensurate with their English-only peers. Arizona's current requirements for the instruction of ELLs do not fully support those students' academic needs.

Chapter 3: Research Methodology

Chapter 3 reiterates the research problem and describes the following: research design and methodology, population and sample, instrumentation, validity and reliability of instrumentation, data collection, and data analysis.

Restatement of the Problem

This researcher examined how the Language Arts rich environment of SEI classrooms affects ELLs' reading achievement on the AIMS annual assessment. ELLs are segregated into SEI classrooms where most of their day revolves around English language skills: 30 minutes of oral English and conversation instruction, 60 minutes of grammar instruction, 60 minutes of reading instruction, 60 minutes of vocabulary instruction, and 30 minutes of writing instruction (ADE, 2008b).

For students to actively participate in future global competition, they will need to receive a well-rounded education which includes the ability to work in multicultural environments and strengthen their science and math knowledge (Clough, 2008, p. 59-60), all of which may be jeopardized when ELLs are confined to SEI classrooms. Therefore, this study identified whether there was a significant difference in the reading achievement of ELLs in SEI classrooms and students in mainstream classrooms who received a balanced curriculum of language arts, math, science, and social studies.

Restatement of Research Questions and Hypotheses

RQ1. Was there a statistically significant difference between the third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who did?

 H_0I : Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI.

H1: Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI.

RQ1a. What was the difference between the third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for one year?

 H_01a : Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for one year.

H1a: Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for one year.

RQ1b. What was the difference between the third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for two years?

 H_01b : Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for two years.

H1b: Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for two years.

RQ1c. What was the difference between the third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for three or more years?

 H_0Ic : Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for three or more years.

H1c: Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for three or more years.

RQ2. Was there a statistically significant difference between the fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who did?

 H_02 : Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI. *H2:* Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI.

RQ2a. What was the difference between the fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for one year?

 H_02a : Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for one year.

H2a: Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for one year.

RQ2b. What was the difference between the fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for two years?

 H_02b : Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for two years.

H2b: Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for two years.

RQ2c. What was the difference between the fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for three years?

 H_02c : Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for three years.

H2c: Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for three years.

RQ2d. What was the difference between the fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for four or more years?

 H_02d : Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for four or more years.

H2d: Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for four or more years.

Research Design

This is a causal-comparative, ex post facto, quantitative research study. This researcher examined reading outcomes of a sample grouped by tenure in SEI classrooms. The study is non-experimental because the researcher was not able to assign students to

groups and there was no manipulation of variables. The goal of this study was to test the impact of the Structured English Immersion instruction on reading achievement; hence, the quantitative design allowed for analysis of the numeric data.

The study population was already separated into SEI classrooms and mainstream classrooms; therefore, the study is a Nonequivalent Groups Design (NEGD; Trochim, 2006). Assessment results from state standardized tests administered to both the students in SEI classrooms and those in mainstream classrooms was used, therefore making the study an ex post facto (after the action) design. Also referred to as causal-comparative, this after-the-fact analysis established whether there were between-group differences in pre-formed groups to determine whether the independent variable (type of instruction: SEI vs. mainstream) affected overall student outcomes on the AIMS assessment (dependent variable).

Population and Sampling

The target population for this study was fifth grade students from the 2013-2014 school year cohort who have been enrolled in the school district continuously since their kindergarten school year (2008-2009). The sample was selected from one school district of approximately 4,500 pupils, using a combination of convenience and purposive methods. The total sample included all fifth grade students who have been continuously enrolled in the district since kindergarten. Data from the cohort included third and fifth grade AIMS results.

Sampling Procedures

Only ELL students who were enrolled in the school district continuously from their kindergarten through fifth grade school years are eligible for participation in this study as part of the SEI program. Students who never participated in the SEI program were identified for the sample by matching their assigned Student Accountability Information System (SAIS) numbers for Full Academic Year (FAY) third grade and FAY fifth grade. A total of 322 fifth grade students were identified for the sample. Of the total sample, 258 fifth grade students never participated in SEI classrooms and were therefore, part of the mainstream classrooms in the general education setting peer group. The ELLs were identified as non-ELP solely by the AZELLA (ADE, 2008b). Table 4 below provides details of the sample based on tenure in the SEI program.

Table 4

Study Sample, by SEI Program Tenure

SEI Program Tenure	Ν
Fifth grade students who	
Have never participated in the SEI program	258
Participated in the SEI program for one year	29
Participated in the SEI program for two years	12
Participated in the SEI program for three years	11
Participated in the SEI program for four years	5
Participated in the SEI program for five years	5
Participated in the SEI program for six years	2

Student ex post-facto data was analyzed to compare third and fifth grade AIMS reading achievement results. The results of the fifth grade students who were in the SEI program through fourth and fifth grades may be less conclusive due to the small sample size.

Sources of Information

Data for the study consisted of third and fifth grades AIMS reading data, provided by the state of Arizona. Arizona began administering the AIMS to third, fifth, and eighth grade students in the spring of 2000 and expanded the state assessment to all third through eighth grade students in 2005 (ADE, 2011a). The AIMS assessment was administered under similar conditions to students in grades 3 and 5 from 2005 – 2014 (ADE, 2014b).

Reliability and Validity

The consistency of the repeated testing provided reliability for the spring 2014 AIMS assessment (ADE, 2014b, p. 265). The validity of the AIMS assessment was measured over the course of a decade on students throughout the state in grades 3-12. The AIMS third grade and fifth grade reading assessments were constructed of both criterion-referenced test (CRT) questions and norm-referenced test (NRT) questions (ADE, 2014b). Both the third and fifth grade AIMS reading tests contained 39 CRT questions selected by teachers to measure levels of students' mastery and achievement relative to the state standards, and 15 NRT questions embedded by the Stanford 10 which were aligned to Arizona's content standards. The reliability of the AIMS was determined by assessing the internal consistency of the multiple-choice items and the inter-rater reliability of the hand scored written tests (Arizona's Instrument, 2014). Cronbach's alpha formula was used to measure internal consistency for multiple-choice items and a stratified alpha (weighted average of Cronbach's alpha) was used for test items of different types and different maximum points (p. 254).

Data Collection

Permission to use district data for analyses was obtained from the district superintendent (see Appendix A). The AZELLA proficiency levels and third and fifth grades AIMS reading data, for the district under study, were provided by the state of Arizona.

Data Analysis Procedures

Data for the study consists of the third and fifth grade AIMS reading data provided by the state of Arizona. The AZELLA results were used to determine proficiency levels of ELLs. An overall score of proficient caused the student to be exited from the SEI program, all students scoring below an overall score of proficient remained in the SEI program. Exited SEI students were monitored and tested using AZELLA annually, for two years after exiting to mainstream classrooms; if a student tested below an overall score of proficient within the two years they were placed back into the SEI program.

Data used to assess the research questions regarding the third grade AIMS reading scores came from the 2012 administration of the AIMS reading subtest. The data used to assess the research questions regarding the fifth grade AIMS reading scores came from the 2014 administration of the AIMS reading subtest. Missing data was replaced with the overall group means from that administration of the AIMS assessment within the district.

Specifically, missing data from mainstream students was replaced with the overall mainstream group mean and missing data from an SEI student was replaced with the overall group mean for all SEI students.

All of the research questions were assessed using a between-subjects one-way ANOVA. A one-way ANOVA was selected as the most appropriate test because it draws comparisons across more than two groups at one time, reducing the risk of Type I errors associated with running multiple T-tests to receive the same information. Moreover, the between-subjects ANOVA was selected because the research questions and hypothesis required assessing comparisons of SEI & mainstream group scores within the same administration, rather than across the two administrations which would have necessitated use of a repeated measures ANOVA.

G*Power analysis. Prior to analyzing the data, a G* Power analysis was conducted to ensure valid results could be obtained from the study district's sample size. Though the initial goal of the study was to compare students who never received SEI instruction to students who were in the SEI program for one, two, three, four, five or six years, the groups were reconfigured (Table 5), after conducting the G* Power analysis, to maximize the possibility of achieving at least a medium effect. The analysis revealed that total sample size of 10 was needed to achieve a medium effect size and obtain a 99% chance of correctly rejecting the null hypothesis, indicating there was no statistically significant difference between the AIMS reading scores of students who never received SEI instruction than those who were in the SEI program.

56

Table 5 shows the new group configuration for ELLs. Specifically, for analyses using the third grade AIMS as a dependent variable, students who received SEI instruction for 3, 4, 5, or 6 years were combined into a group labeled 3 or more years. For the analysis using the fifth grade AIMS as a dependent variable, students who received SEI instruction for 4, 5, or 6 years were combined into a group labeled 4 or more years. The combined groups were created to account for the decreasing number of students who remained in the SEI program in grades 4 and 5. By grade 5 there were only two ELLs in the SEI program. Table 6 depicts the flow of students in and out of the SEI program across all six years of the students' formal primary education.

Table 5

Study Sample Grouping Scheme

SEI Program Tenure	3rd Grade	5th Grade
Never (Mainstream)	Х	Х
One Year	Х	Х
Two Years	Х	Х
Three or More Years	Х	-
Three Years		Х
Four or More Years		Х

Table 6

Grade (Academic Year)	Ν
Kindergarten (2008 - 2009)	64
1st (2009 – 2010)	35
2nd (2010 – 2011)	23
3rd (2011 – 2012)	12
4th (2012 – 2013)	7
5th (2013–2014)	2

Number of ELLs Per Grade Level and Academic Year

Summary

Chapter 3 reviewed the problem and described the research design and methodology, population and sample, validity and reliability of instrumentation, data collection, and data analysis procedures. Arizona's Instrumentation to Measure Standards (AIMS) was identified as the dependent variable and the two methods of reading instruction, Structured English Immersion program and mainstream reading instruction, were identified as the independent variables for this causal-comparative ex post facto study. Only the students who were in the school district for the entire six years were included in the study. Chapter 4 includes an overview of the descriptive statistics for both AIMS administration and the detailed data analysis.

Chapter 4: Findings and Results

The purpose of this study was to determine how instructional mandates from Ariz. H.R. 2064 and Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 15-751 – 15-756 affected the academic progress of ELLs in reading. Testing data were retrieved according to the procedures outlined in Chapter 3. A descriptive analysis of the dependent variables is provided first, followed by an overview of the findings and a detailed analysis of the hypothesis tests.

Descriptive Analysis

The 64 ELLs who received instruction in the state mandated SEI program in the study district were divided into three groups for analysis of the grade 3 AIMS reading administration and four groups for analysis of the grade 5 AIMS reading administration. For both sets of analyses, the comparative group was 258 mainstream students who received their education in the general education setting.

The descriptive statistics for both dependent variables, across all groups are provided in Table 7. The overall mean for the third grade AIMS reading administration was 454.14 (SD = 43.42), while the overall mean for the fifth grade AIMS administration was 493.54 (SD = 36.40) indicating that there was a net increase in reading achievement between the two administrations. Closer inspection shows that the net increase in reading scores from third grade to fifth grade was true for all groups. Notably, all groups had similar minimum scores, but the mainstream students had a higher maximum score and a larger standard deviation at both administrations, indicating greater variation in their scores relative to the other groups.

Table 7

	SEI Program Tenure					
AIMS Administration	Never	1 Year	2 Years	3+ Years	3 Years	4 + Years
Third Grade Reading						
Ν	258	29	14	21		
М	455.04	463.45	456.07	428.86		
SD	44.97	33.53	35.69	32.50		
Min	344	391	375	361		
Max	597	536	509	490		
Fifth Grade Reading						
Ν	258	29	12	-	11	12
М	493.76	499.31	519.92	-	475.82	464.58
SD	36.97	29.26	28.11	-	32.63	26.80
Min	395	458	486	-	435	431
Max	602	562	570	-	524	524

Descriptive Analysis of the Third and Fifth Grade AIMS Reading Scores

Overview of the Findings

Table 8 provides an overview of all the hypothesis tests that were conducted, by research question.

Table 8

Overview of All Findings

Research Question	Analysis	Null Hypothesis
1. Was there a statistically significant difference between the 3rd grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who did?	One-way ANOVA to compare all group means	Rejected
1a. What was the difference between the third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for one year?	Tukey's HSD test to compare mainstream students to one year only SEI students.	Retained
1b. What was the difference between the third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for two years?	Tukey's HSD test to compare mainstream students to two year only SEI students.	Retained
1c. What was the difference between the third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for three or more years?	Tukey's HSD test to compare mainstream students to 3+ year SEI students.	Rejected
2. Was there a statistically significant difference between the fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who did?	One-way ANOVA to compare all group means.	Rejected
2a. What was the difference between the fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for one year?	Tukey's HSD test to compare mainstream students to one year only SEI students.	Retained
2b. What was the difference between the fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for two years?	Tukey's HSD test to compare mainstream students to two year only SEI students.	Retained
2c. What was the difference between the fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for three years?	Tukey's HSD test to compare mainstream students to three year only SEI students.	Retained
2d. What was the difference between the fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for four or more years?	Tukey's HSD test to compare mainstream students to 4+ year SEI students.	Rejected

Note. Significance level was .05 for all analyses
Analysis of Third Grade AIMS Reading Scores

RQ1. Was there a statistically significant difference between the third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who did?

 H_0I : Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI.

H1: Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI.

To test the first hypothesis of research question 1, a one-way ANOVA was used to compare the third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream students and ELL students. The omnibus test revealed that scores differed across the four groups F(3, 318) = 2.92, p = .03. Thus, the null hypothesis must be rejected, and the alternative hypothesis accepted.

Post hoc analyses were run to assess the remaining hypotheses regarding the third grade AIMS reading scores. Specifically, Tukey's Honestly Significant Differences (HSD) were used to compare the mean reading scores of the mainstream students to the mean reading scores of each ELL groups. The results of the post-hoc analyses are presented, by research question and hypothesis, below.

RQ1a. What was the difference between the third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for one year?

 H_01a : Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for one year.

H1a: Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for one year.

Tukey's HSD revealed that there was no significant difference in reading scores for mainstream students (M = 455.04, SD = 44.97) and ELLs who received SEI programming for one year only (M = 463.45, SD = 33.53), p = .75. Therefore, the null hypothesis must be retained.

RQ1b. What was the difference between the third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for two years?

 H_01b : Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for two years.

H1b: Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for two years.

Tukey's HSD revealed that there was no significant difference in reading scores for mainstream students (M = 455.04, SD = 44.97) and ELLs who received SEI programming for two years only (M = 456.07, SD = 33.69), p = 1.00. Therefore, the null hypothesis must be retained. **RQ1c.** What was the difference between the third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for three or more years?

 H_0Ic : Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for three or more years.

H1c: Third grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for three or more years.

Tukey's HSD revealed that mainstream students (M = 455.04, SD = 44.97) scored significantly higher on the AIMS reading test than ELLs who received SEI programming for three or more years (M = 428.86, SD = 32.50), p = .04. Therefore, the null hypothesis must be rejected, and the alternative hypothesis is accepted.

Analysis of Fifth Grade AIMS Reading Scores

RQ2. Was there a statistically significant difference between the fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who did?

 H_02 : Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI.

H2: Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI.

To test the first hypothesis of research question 2, a one-way ANOVA was used to compare the fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream students and ELL students. The omnibus test revealed that scores differed across the four groups F(4, 317)= 4.50, p = .002. Thus, the null hypothesis must be rejected, and the alternative hypothesis accepted.

As with the third grade AIMS readings scores, Tukey's HSD post hoc analyses were run to assess the remaining hypotheses regarding the fifth grade AIMS reading scores. The mean reading score of all ELL groups were compared to those of the mainstream students. The results of the post-hoc analyses are presented, by research question and hypothesis, below.

RQ2a. What was the difference between the fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for one year?

 H_02a : Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for one year.

H2a: Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for one year.

Tukey's HSD revealed that there was no significant difference in reading scores for mainstream students (M = 493.76, SD = 36.97) and ELLs who received SEI programming for one year only (M = 499.31, SD = 29.26), p = .93. Therefore, the null hypothesis must be retained.

RQ2b. What was the difference between the fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for two years?

 H_02b : Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for two years.

H2b: Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for two years.

Tukey's HSD revealed that there was no significant difference in reading scores for mainstream students (M = 493.76, SD = 36.97) and ELLs who received SEI programming for two years only (M = 519.92, SD = 28.11), p = .10. Therefore, the null hypothesis must be retained.

RQ2c. What was the difference between the fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for three years?

 H_02c : Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for three years. *H2c:* Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for three years.

Tukey's HSD revealed that there was no significant difference in reading scores for mainstream students (M = 493.76, SD = 36.97) and ELLs who received SEI programming for three years only (M = 475.82, SD = 32.63), p = .48. Therefore, the null hypothesis must be retained.

RQ2d. What was the difference between the fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction and those who were in SEI for four or more years?

 H_02d : Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were not statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for four or more years.

H2d: Fifth grade AIMS reading scores of mainstream fifth grade students who never received SEI instruction were statistically significantly better than those who were in SEI for four or more years.

Tukey's HSD revealed that mainstream students (M = 493.76, SD = 36.97) scored significantly higher on the AIMS reading test than ELLs who received SEI programming for three or more years (M = 464.58, SD = 26.80), p = .046. Therefore, the null hypothesis must be rejected, and the alternative hypothesis is accepted.

Summary

The analysis presented in Chapter 4 provided answers to the study's research questions. The analysis of research question one determined whether there was a statistically significant difference in third grade AIMS reading scale scores of students who participated in the SEI model and those who did not. Outcomes from the one-way ANOVA revealed that scores differed across the four groups. Thus, the alternative hypothesis was accepted. Post hoc analyses using Tukey's HSD provided further insight about the differences between groups. Interestingly, third grade students who were educated in the SEI environment for no more than two years did not score statistically significantly differently than their mainstream peers, resulting in the retention of the null hypotheses for the one- and two-year groups (RQs 1a. and 1b.). However, there were statistically significant differences in scale scores between students educated three or more years within the SEI environment and those who were educated in the mainstream, thus the null hypothesis was rejected for RQ 1c.

The analysis of research question two determined whether there was a statistically significant difference in fifth grade AIMS reading scale scores of students who participated in the SEI model and those who did not. Outcomes from the one-way ANOVA revealed that scores differed across the five groups. Thus, the alternative hypothesis was accepted. Post hoc analyses using Tukey's HSD provided further insight about the differences between groups. The scores of fifth grade students who were educated in the SEI environment for three years or less were not significantly different from those of their mainstream peers. Thus, the null hypotheses were retained for the one-, two-, and three-year groups (RQs 2a., 2b., and 2c.). However, there were

statistically significant differences in scale scores between students educated within the SEI environment for four or more years and those who were educated in the mainstream environment. Thus, the null hypothesis was rejected for RQ 2d.

In sum, analysis of the data resulted in the null hypothesis being rejected for four of the nine research questions — RQ1, RQ1c, RQ2, RQ2d. The null hypothesis was retained for the remaining five research questions. Chapter 5 includes the interpretation of the findings, the implications of these findings for both the academic literature and public policy on ELL education, and recommendations for future directions.

Chapter 5: Summary, Conclusions, Implications, Recommendations, and Concluding Remarks

In 2000, the voters of Arizona elected to have all public school academic instruction taught only in English, thus removing the support English language learners were receiving in their native language through bilingual instruction. This causalcomparative, ex post facto, quantitative research study compared the reading outcomes of a sample grouped by tenure in SEI classrooms to the reading outcomes of their peers in mainstream classrooms. Chapter 2 included a review of relevant information to the topic of this study. Chapter 3 included the details of the research methodology and data collection procedures for this study, while chapter 4 included the outcomes of the data analyses. This chapter includes conclusions from the data analyses as well as implications for practice, and recommendations for both future study and state-level entities.

Summary of the Study

The purpose of this study was to determine how the legislative mandates from Proposition 203 and the instructional mandates from Ariz. H.R. 2064 and Ariz. Rev. Stat. \$15-751 – 15-756 affected the academic progress of ELLs in reading, as measured by AIMS reading scores. Arizona's current SEI model requires four hours of language-rich instruction based on the English language proficiency standards, not the state's academic standards. Meeting the four-hour mandate frequently comes at the expense of math, science, and social studies instruction. The mandated isolation into ELL only classrooms also denies ELLs the opportunity to learn from peer modeling that would be provided by their English proficient peers in mainstream classrooms.

The study compared ELLs' reading achievement on two administrations of the AIMS annual assessment to that of their mainstream peers. The study included full academic year students from the general education (mainstream) and SEI program classrooms. Students from the general education classrooms were exposed to a varied curriculum based on Arizona's academic content standards which include 330 minutes of instruction as follows: reading (90 minutes), writing (30 minutes), math (90 minutes), science (60 minutes), and social studies (60 minutes). Meanwhile ELLs receive 240 minutes of instruction based on the English language proficiency standards in the areas of grammar (60 minutes), reading (60 minutes), oral English (30 minutes), vocabulary (60 minutes), and writing (30 minutes). This ELA-heavy curriculum leaves only a mere 90 minutes for math, science, and social studies, combined, making it nearly impossible for ELLs to maintain academic pace with their mainstream peers in those subjects. Further, the language arts standards required by the state are different for the two groups of students; general education students receive their instruction based on Arizona's academic standards, while ELLs receive their instruction based on Arizona's English Language Proficiency standards. Yet, academic progress for both groups is assessed against the content standards only, using the same assessment exam. It is likely that all of these factors contributed to the statistically higher achievement outcomes of the general education students, relative to their limited English proficient (LEP) peers in the SEI program.

71

Conclusions

The literature tells us that two of every five American public school students will be acquiring English as a second language learners by 2030 (Shah & Cavanagh, 2012). Providing adequate means by which ELLs can obtain both English language and academic proficiency will be paramount if they are to be successful and contributing members of their communities. The background research supporting this study begs the question – do Arizona's English instruction mandates ensure that ELL students are receiving an equitable education? This study has provided statistical evidence that the current SEI model mandated by the state is not sufficiently supporting all ELLs. Results from the one-way ANOVAs and Tukey's HSD post hoc tests revealed statistically significant differences in student achievement. In both the grade 3 and grade 5 analyses, AIMS reading scores were substantially higher for mainstream students than they were for ELLs who had not tested out of the SEI program by the two years preceding the AIMS administration. ELLs who spent three to four years within the SEI program by grade 3, were not exposed to Arizona's academic standards for 75% - 100% of their formal education because those standards are prioritized second to the LEP standards. Similarly, ELLs who spent four or more years in SEI classrooms by grade 5 focused on LEP standards for 66% to 100% of their formal education. Since all of Arizona's students are assessed against the state academic standards, it is troubling that ELLs are denied reasonable exposure to those standards within the SEI model. In fact, it is reasonable to argue that ELLs are being set up to fail because, as this study shows, the system makes it increasingly difficult for these students to catch up to Arizona's academic standards as their time in SEI programs increase. Thus, the results of this study indicate that there is still work to be done before Arizona's educational system can claim that every child has access to equitable educational opportunities.

Implications for Practice

Outcomes from this study are significant to educators, the Arizona Department of Education, and state legislators. Though the sample size analyzed was small, statistically significant differences between mainstream students and ELLs who participated in the SEI program for more than 2 years during their first four years of formal education were evident. A similar difference was found between mainstream students and ELLs who participated in the SEI program for four or more of their first six years of formal schooling. The state recommends that tenure in the SEI program should be limited to one year and limits funding for the program to two years per student although research indicates that it takes five to seven years for primary school students to acquire a second language at a "totally proficient" level (Demie, 2013). Thus, the current SEI model is unrealistic and provides limited support to many ELLs. Consistent with the research, 35% of ELLs in this sample were unable to pass the AZELLA at the "proficient" level during the two-year timeframe. Many of those students are destined to remain in the SEI program and separated from their English-proficient peers, despite research that shows integration in mainstream classrooms are beneficial to students when acquiring a second language.

Prior to this study, there was little evidence of how the model affected academic performance of ELLs. The results of this study indicate that there is reason to question the effectiveness of the current SEI model. The findings from this study can be used to support conversations at the state educational and legislative levels about how to revise and improve educational opportunities for Arizona's ELL population. The results of this study show that third grade ELLs who participate in the SEI program for more than two years are at risk of being retained in the 3rd grade based on their substantially lower reading assessment performance. Tingle, Schoeneberger, and Algozzine (2012) have expressed similar retention-related concerns for ELLs. Thus, state-level decision makers must consider funding ELLs beyond two years and provide differentiated support, based on individual ELL needs, to successfully reduce the risk of third grade retention for this population.

Research shows that the earlier a second language is introduced, the more easily it is acquired (Faulkner-Bond et al. 2012, p.28). Therefore, this study focused on students who were in the primary years of their formal public education. Analysis of their test scores revealed that ELLs are not maintaining the same rate of educational progress as their mainstream peers, as indicated by their performance on a standardized reading test. Other researchers have demonstrated similar outcomes. For example, Ohmstede Beckman, Messersmith, Shephard and Cates (2012) found that ELLs attained lower scores on standardized reading tests than non-ELLs. Interestingly, the researchers argued that this achievement gap may be explained, in part, by the standardized test itself. Specifically, they explain that ELLs struggled with the linguistic complexity of the test questions. Regardless of the cause, the achievement gap between ELLs and their mainstream peers is troubling. Thus, there is much room for further study.

It is important that future research explore the progress of students who enter the Arizona educational system as monolinguals later in their academic careers. New ELLs arrive as monolinguals throughout the school year and across various grade levels. The academic English of middle school and high school is more complex and thus more difficult to obtain than primary school academic and conversational English. Therefore, not providing older ELLs with translation from their native language or other forms of bilingual support is a denial of Free and Appropriate Education (FAPE). Decision makers need to provide support for all students within public schools.

State decisions makers already allow districts to procure curricular material and determine the best instructional practices and placement of students within the general educational setting as long as the decisions are aligned with the state's academic standards. The same allowances should be made for ELL education. The current two-year limit on monetary support ELLs is a disservice to ELLs who are unable to test out of the SEI program after two years. To achieve the goal of providing equitable educational opportunities to all students, the state must create provisions for ELLs who need more time to acquire English and provide targeted funding to districts so they may provide adequate additional support for those ELLs.

Recommendations for Future Studies

There is limited research on this topic because Arizona's model is relatively new and very few states have implemented similar models. Nonetheless, it is critical that researchers continue to explore this topic and work toward closing the achievement gap revealed by this study. It is natural for researchers to focus directly on ELLs but closing the gap effectively and efficiently will require that investigators expand the scope of their research to include teachers and parents. Teaching students who have limited proficiency in English is challenging for teachers who have limited proficiency in any language other than English. Likewise, parents who are limited English proficient may have trouble communicating with educators, advocating for their children, supporting their children with homework, and/or understanding cultural differences. Given how critical both groups are to the academic success of ELLs, attempting to close the gap without due consideration of teacher and parent experiences and perceptions will be futile. Ten additional recommendations for future research are provided below:

Recommendation 1. Replicate the current study across several school districts or even using the statewide data for the same years. This will expand our understanding of the impact of Arizona's SEI mandates.

Recommendation 2. The tests used to assess both English language proficiency and progress against the state academic standards have changed. Repeating the study with the revised version of AZELLA and the AZMERIT assessment that replaced AIMS in 2015 would reveal the current impact of the SEI model on Arizona's ELLs.

Recommendation 3. Expand on the research by adding a qualitative component to investigate SEI classroom teachers': 1) beliefs about their instructional practices, 2) perceptions of the effectiveness of district-supplied instructional and testing materials, and 3) perceived self-efficacy.

Recommendation 4. Conduct mixed methods research that compares outcomes between ELLs who participated in the SEI program and mainstreamed ELLs who were provided with an Individual Learning Language Plan (ILLP). This research should include teachers' perceptions of both methods, as well as student perceptions of the learning environments and outcomes. **Recommendation 5.** Research has shown that second language acquisition occurs more readily at younger ages, therefore, a quantitative study that compares ELLs who participated in the SEI program at a young age, ELLs who enrolled in 6th grade or higher as monolinguals, and mainstream students would add to the body of empirical knowledge on this topic.

Recommendation 6. A qualitative or mixed methods study that explores the relationship between classroom grades, teacher perceptions, student mindsets, and parent involvement for ELLs in Arizona's SEI programs would provide a deep understanding of how the state mandates impact student academic outcomes, teacher self-efficacy, and parent satisfaction with the education their child(ren) receive.

Recommendation 7. Explore how districts analyze and use data from AZELLA and AZMERIT to make decisions regarding professional development in instructional strategies for ELLs and procurement of materials and resources specific to ELL's academic improvement.

Recommendation 8. Since state lawmakers and education officials create and enforce legislation that directly effects Arizona's ELL population (e.g., Proposition 203; Ariz. H.R. 2064), an exploration of current recommendations for ELL instruction would benefit both the ELL population and Arizona's educational system. California recently repealed Proposition 227 to allow the reemergence of bilingual education into public schools. Proposition 227 was similar to both Proposition 203 and Ariz. H.R. 2064. Its repeal may be a signal that it is time for Arizona to follow suit.

Recommendation 9. The ELL sample in this study were all native Spanish speakers; therefore, these results may not be generalizable to native speakers of other

languages. Analyzing data from school districts with ELLs with native languages other than Spanish will help stakeholders make the best decisions for *all* ELLs in Arizona.

Recommendation 10. The small sample of ELLs in the district under study prevented an exploration of other groupings of ELLs. For example, it may be valuable to examine gender differences or the impact of extracurricular activity (e.g., tutoring) that may provide greater exposure to mainstream peers. Replicating the study with a larger sample of ELLs would enable researchers to explore other characteristics of ELLs that may impact their language acquisition and academic performance.

Concluding Remarks

This study provides evidence that the SEI model mandated by the state of Arizona does not provide sufficient support to ELLs. In fact, it appears that the SEI model is only effective for students who are able to exit the program within one to two years, which is consistent with the state's recommendation and funding for the program. Unfortunately, the analysis shows that this model puts ELLs who are not able to obtain English language proficiency after two years at high risk for retention. Moreover, the model perpetuates the achievement gap between ELLs and their mainstream peers. Given the outcomes of this study, the researcher believes that more than one method of instructing ELLs is needed to ensure that every student has a reasonable opportunity to succeed.

References

- Albo Carabelli, M J. (2009). Whose children are these? A rational approach to educating illegal-alien school children. *International Social Science Review*, 84(3/4), 115-134.
- American Psychological Association (APA). (n.d.). *Education and socioeconomic status*. Retrieved from http://www.apa.org/pi/ses/resources/publications/factsheeteducation.aspx
- Arizona Association for Bilingual Education. (2000). Proposition 203: English Language Education for Children in Public Schools. Retrieved from http://www.azbilingualed.org/AZ%20Hist-ALEC/prop%20203.htm
- Arizona Department of Education (ADE). (2006). *English language learners*. Retrieved from http://www.azed.gov/english-language-learners/
- Arizona Department of Education (ADE). (2007, April). Arizona English Language Learner Assessment technical manual. Phoenix, AZ: Author

Arizona Department of Education (ADE). (2008a, May 14). Structured English Immersion ELD Models. Retrieved from

http://www.azed.gov/english-language-learners/files/2014/03/sei-models.pdf

Arizona Department of Education (ADE). (2008b, May 14). Structured English immersion models of the Arizona English Language Learners Task Force.
Retrieved from http://www.azed.gov/wp-content/uploads/PDF/SEIModels05-14-08.pdf

- Arizona Department of Education (ADE). (2011a). *Guide to test interpretation AIMS and Stanford 10*. Retrieved from https://www.azed.gov/wp-content/uploads/ PDF/AIMS_GTI_s11_Web.pdf
- Arizona Department of Education (ADE). (2011b, December). Individual language learner plan. Office of English Language Acquisition Services. Retrieved from http://www.azed.gov/english-language-learners/files/2012/10/illp-guidancedocument-complete-revised.pdf
- Arizona Department of Education (ADE). (2012a, February). *English language proficiency standards*. Retrieved from http://www.azed.gov/english-languagelearners/files/2012/02/guidance-doc-finalized.pdf
- Arizona Department of Education (ADE). (2012b). FY 2012 Title III final allocations list for OELAS reporting purposes. Retrieved from Arizona Department of Education website: http://www.azed.gov/english-language
 - learners/files/2011/10/fy2012titleiiifinalallocationslist-foroelasreportingpurposesfinal.pdf
- Arizona Department of Education (ADE). (2013a). Arizona's Instrument to Measure Standards spring guide to test interpretation AIMS and Stanford 10 [Pamphlet].
 Retrieved from http://www.azed.gov/assessment/files/2014/05/spring-2013_gti_web.pdf
- Arizona Department of Education (ADE). (2013b, December). Arizona English Language Learner Assessment. Phoenix, AZ: Arizona Department of Education.

Arizona Department of Education (ADE). (2014a, August 21). *Guide to navigating and using AZELLA reports*. Retrieved from

http://www.azed.gov/assessment/files/2014/08/report-use-8-21-14.pdf

- Arizona Department of Education (ADE). (2014b, October). Arizona's Instrument to Measure Standards 2014 technical report. Phoenix, AZ: Author
- Arizona Department of Education (ADE). (n.d.a.) Assessment. Retrieved from http://www.azed.gov/assessment/
- Arizona Department of Education (ADE). (n.d.b.) *AZELLA*. Retrieved from Arizona Department of Education website: http://www.azed.gov/assessment/azella/
- Arizona Department of Education (ADE). (n.d.c.). *ELL Stage III: Grades 3-5 language strand*. Retrieved from http://www.azed.gov/english-language-learners/files/2011/09/stage-iii-language-strand.pdf
- Arizona Education Association (AEA). (n.d.) *History of Flores -v- Arizona*. Retrieved from http://www.arizonaea.org/politics.php?page=186
- Arizona Indicators. (n.d.). *Arizona student achievement rises but falls short of the national average*. Retrieved from http://arizonaindicators.org/education
- Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 15-752 (2006) ("English language education"). Retrieved from http://www.azleg.state.az.us/FormatDocument.asp?inDoc= /ars/15/00752.htm&Title=15&DocType=ARS

Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 15-756 (n.d.) ("Identification of English language learners").

Ariz. Rev. Stat. § 15-756.07 (n.d.) ("Office of English Language Acquisition Services" [OELAS]).

- Arizona Secretary of State. (2000, November 7). *Proposition 203*. Retrieved from http://www.azsos.gov/election/2000/info/pubpamphlet/english/prop203.htm
- Arizona State Legislature. (n.d.). English language education for children in public schools. Retrieved from http://www.azleg.gov/FormatDocument.asp?inDoc=/ars /15/00751.htm& Title=15&DocType=ARS
- Bae, S., Holloway, S. D., Li, J., & Bempechat, J. (2008). Mexican-American students' perceptions of teachers' expectations: Do perceptions differ depending on student achievement levels? *Urban Rev.* http://dx.doi.org/10.1007/s11256-007-0070-x
- Bhaskar, R., Arenas-Germosen, B., & Dick, C. (2013, May). Demographic analysis 2010: Sensitivity analysis of the foreign-born migration component. Retrieved from http://www.census.gov/population/www/documentation/ twps0098/twps0098.pdf
- Bumgarner, E., Martin, A., & Brooks-Gunn, J. (2013). Approaches to learning and Hispanic children's math scores: The moderating role of English proficiency. *Hispanic Journal of Behavioral Sciences*, *35*(2), 241-259. http://dx.doi.org/10.1177/0739986312473580

California Legislative Analyst's Office. (2016, July 20). *Proposition 58 English language education*. Retrieved from http://www.lao.ca.gov/ballot/2016/Prop58-110816.pdf

Carroll, S. (2006, February 26). For student Miriam Flores, fines worthwhile if they help. *The Arizona Republic*. Retrieved from

http://azbilingualed.org/News_2006/for_Student_miriam_flores.htm

Center for Applied Linguistics Institute. (2017). *Bilingual and Dual Language Education*. Retrieved fromhttp://www.cal.org/areas-of-impact/englishlearners/bilingual-and-dual-language-education

Center for Student Achievement. (2017, February). *Arizona ranks 49th in education funding - how did we get here?* Retrieved from http://centerforstudentachievement.org/arizona-ranks-49th-in-education-fundinghow-did-we-get-here/

- Clough, W. G. (2008). Wanted: Well-rounded students who can think. *Education Digest*, 74(2), 58-62.
- Conger, D. (2010). Does bilingual education interfere with English-language acquisition? *Social Science Quarterly*, *91*(4), 1103-1122.
- Cook, G., Boals, T., & Lundberg, T. (2011, November). Academic achievement for English learners: What can we reasonably expect? *Kappan*, *93*(3), 66-69.
- Crawford, J. (1998). Proposition 227: Anti-Bilingual Education Initiative in California. Retrieved from http://www.languagepolicy.net/archives/unz.htm
- Criterion-Referenced Test. (n.d.). In *The Glossary of Education Reform*. Retrieved from http://edglossary.org/criterion-referenced-test/

- Curriculum Strands. (n.d.). In *International Bureau of Education*. Retrieved from http://www.ibe.unesco.org/en/glossary-curriculum-terminology/c/curriculumstrands
- Demie, F. (2013). English as an additional language pupils: How long does it take to acquire English fluency? *Language & Education: An International Journal*, 27(1), 59-69.
- Ernst-Slavit, G., & Mason, M. R. (2011). "Words that hold us up": Teacher talk and academic language in five upper elementary classrooms. *Linguistics & Education*, 22(4), 430-440. http://dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.linged.2011.04.004
- Faulkner-Bond, M., Waring, S., Crenshaw, R., Tindle, K., & Belknap, B. (2012, May). Language instruction educational programs: A review of the foundational literature. Retrieved from https://www2.ed.gov/rschstat/eval/title-iii/languageinstruction-ed-programs-report.pdf
- Fine, M., Jaffe-Walter, R., & Pedraza, P. (2007). Swimming: On oxygen, resistance, and possibility for immigrant youth under siege. *Anthropology & Education Quarterly*, *38*(1), 76-96. Retrieved from http://ehis.ebscohost.com.libproxy.nau. edu/ehost/detail?sid=932beaca-da95-45f1a98893cf9e9e32c3%40sessionmgr115&vid=1&hid=104&bdata=JnN pdGU9ZWhvc3QtbGl2ZSZzY29wZT1zaXRl#db=ofs&AN=507963691
 Flores v. Arizona, No. 92-0596 (9th Cir. Jun. 2015). Retrieved from https://

www.clearinghouse.net/detail.php?id=11194

Good, M. E., Masewicz, S., & Vogel, L. (2010). Latino English language learners:
Bridging achievement and cultural gaps between schools and families. *Journal of Latinos &Education*, 9(4), 321-339.

http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/15348431.2010.491048

- Haas, E., & Gort, M. (2009). Demanding more: Legal standards and best practices for English language learners. *Bilingual Research Journal*, 32(2), 115-135. doi:10.1080/15235880903169951
- Hellekjaer, G. O. (1999). Easy does it: Introducing pupils to bilingual instruction. *Journal for Intercultural Language Teaching*, 4(2), 1-9. Retrieved from http://tujournals.ulb.tu-darmstadt.de/index.php/zif/article/view/658/634
- Hoff, E. (2013). Interpreting the early language trajectories of children from low-SES and language minority homes: Implications for closing achievement gaps.

Developmental Psychology, 49(1), 4-14.

- H.R. 2064, 47th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Ariz. 2006). Retrieved from State of Arizona House of Representatives website: http://www.azed.gov/wpcontent/uploads/PDF/hb2064c.pdf
- H.R. 2425, 51st Leg., Reg. Sess. (Ariz. 2013). Retrieved from http://legiscan.com/AZ/bill/HB2425/2013

H.R. 2728, 48th Leg., Reg. Sess. (Ariz. 2007).

Izumi, L. T. (2008a, June 2). *English immersion or law evasion?* Retrieved from https://www.pacificresearch.org/english-immersion-or-law-evasion/

- Izumi, L. T.(2008b, June 2). 10 years after Prop. 227: Bilingual education still hanging on. Retrieved from https://www.pacificresearch.org/10-years-after-prop-227bilingual-education-still-hanging-on/
- Jimenez-Castellanos, O., Combs, M. C., Martinez, D., & Gomez, L. (2013, March). English language learners: What's at stake for Arizona. Retrieved from http://arizonaindicators.org/sites/default/files/content/publications/ELL_stake.pdf
- Koenig, K. (2015, June 23). Arizona's English language learners [PowerPoint slides]. Retrieved from http://www.azed.gov/leadingchange/files/2015/06/
 6-23-15-interested-in-using-the-refinements-to-az-structureed-english-immersion-models.pdf
- Moreno, J. B. (2012). Only English? How bilingual education can mitigate the damage of English-only. *Duke Journal of Gender Law & Policy*, *20*(1), 197-220.
- Norm-Referenced Test. (n.d.). In *The Glossary of Education Reform*. Retrieved from http://edglossary.org/norm-referenced-test/
- Odden, A. R., & Picus, L. O. (2014). *School finance: A policy perspective* (5th ed.). New York, NY: McGraw-Hill.
- Ohmstede Beckman, T., Messersmith, K., Shepard, J., & Cates, B. (2012). Ethnicity, language and poverty predicting scores on the Nebraska state accountability reading test. *International Journal of Psychology: A Biopsychosocial Approach*, (11), 31-47. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.7220/1941-7233.11.2

- Pacheco, M. (2010). Performativity in the bilingual classroom: The plight of English learners in the current reform context. *Anthropology & Education Quarterly*, *41*(1), 75-93. Retrieved from http://ehis.ebscohost.com.libproxy.nau.edu/ ehost/detail?sid=d8dba3b6-6580-4193-9d0b-7c0ccaddef5%40sessionmgr115 &vid=1&hid=104&bdata=JnNpdGU9ZWhvc3QtbGl2ZSZzY29wZT1zaXRl#db= ofs&AN=508145727
- Pagano, R. R. (2013). Understanding statistics in the behavioral sciences (10th ed.).Australia: Wadsworth/Cengage Learning.
- Pew Research Center (2011, February). *Census 2010*. Hispanic Trends Project. Retrieved from http://www.pewhispanic.org/census-2010/
- Rymes, B., & Pash, D. (2001). Questioning identity: The case of one second-language learner. Anthropology & Educational Quarterly, 32(3), 276-300. Retrieved from http://ehis.ebscohost.com.libproxy.nau.edu/ehost/detail?sid=52a3c1ef-d889-416e-815d-e3f911457117%40sessionmgr4001&vid=1&hid=4113&bdata= JnNpdGU9ZWhvc3QtbGl2Z SZzY29wZT1zaXRl#db=ofs&AN=507707503
- Shah, N., & Cavanagh, S. (2012). Educating immigrant students: A challenge for U.S. and others. *Education Weed*, 31(16), 24-28.
- Tingle, L. R., Schoeneberger, J., & Algozzine, B. (2012). Does grade retention make a difference? *Clearing House*, 85(5), 179-185. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/ 00098655.2012.679325

- Willig, C., Bresser, R., Melanese, K., Sphar, C., & Felux, C. (2010). 10 ways to help ELLs succeed in math. *Instructor*, *119*(5), 27-29. Retrieved from http://ehis.ebscohost.com.libproxy.nau.edu/ehost/detail?sid=28537c0a-3630-4244-9966-7795bdec7fbd%40sessionmgr4003&vid=1&hid=4208&bdata= JnNpdGU9ZWhvc3QtbGl2ZSZzY29wZT1zaXRl#db=f5h&AN=49117168
- Trochim, W. M. (2006). *Quasi-experimental design*. Retrieved from http://www.socialresearchmethods.net/kb/index.php
- U.S. Department of Education (USDOE). (2007, December 21). Standards and assessments peer review guidance: Information and examples for meeting requirements of the No Child Left Behind Act of 2001. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/policy/elsec/guid/edpicks.jhtml?src=ln
- U.S. Department of Education (USDOE). (2009). Percent of public school fourth graders proficient on the NAEP in mathematics. Retrieved from http://dashboard.ed.gov/statecomparison.aspx?i=d4&id=0&wt=40
- U.S. Department of Education (USDOE). (2010, August). Free appropriate public education for students with disabilities: Requirements under section 504 of The Rehabilitation Act of 1973. Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/docs/edlite-FAPE504.html
- U.S. Department of Education (USDOE), Office of English Language Acquisition.
 (2015). Dual language education programs: Current state policies and practices.
 Retrieved from http://www2.ed.gov/about/offices/list/oela/resources.html

- Vote Smart. (2006, March, 2). HB 2064 English language learners Voting record: Arizona Senate. Retrieved from https://votesmart.org/bill/votes/3357#.WravAjwaUk
- Warriner, D. S. (2007). Language learning and politics of belonging: Sudanese women refugees becoming and being "American." *Anthropology & Education Quarterly*, 38(4), 343-359. Retrieved from http://libproxy.nau.edu/login?url= http://search.ebscohost. com/login.aspx?direct=true&db=ofs&AN=508021134 & &site=ehost-live&scope=site
- Wightman, J. (2010). ELL education in Arizona: Unconstitutional segregation or just inappropriate? *Texas Hispanic Journal of Law & Policy*, *16*(1), 121-152.

Appendix A: IRB Approval

Institutional Review Read

	Regulatory Human Research Subjects Protection Program 928-523-955 http://nau.edu/Research/Compliance/Human-Subject
	Welcom
То:	Fred Lugo
From:	NAU IRB Office
Approval Date:	February 15, 2018
Project:	THE IMPACT OF A STRUCTURED ENGLISH IMMERSION MODEL ON ENGLISH LANGUAGE LEARNERS' READING ACHIEVEMENT
Project Number:	1185985-1
Submission:	New Project
Review Level:	Exempt Review
Action:	EXEMPT
Project Status:	Exempt
Review Category/ies:	Exempt Approval 45 CFR 46.101(4): Research involving the collection or study of existing data, documents, records, pathological specimens, or diagnostic specimens, if these sources are publicly available or if the information is recorded by the investigator in such a manner that subjects cannot be identified, directly or through identifiers linked to the subjects.

This submission meets the criteria for exemption under 45 CFR 46.101(b). This project has been reviewed and approved by an IRB Chair or designee.

- Northern Arizona University maintains a Federalwide Assurance with the Office for Human Research Protections (FWA #00000357).
- All research procedures should be conducted in full accordance with all applicable sections of the guidance.
- · Exempt projects do not have a continuing review requirement.

NORTHERN

- This project should be conducted in full accordance with all applicable sections of the guidance and you should notify the IRB immediately of any proposed changes that affect the protocol.
- Amendments to exempt projects that change the nature of the project should be submitted to the Human Research Subjects Protection Program (HRSPP) office for a new determination. See the guidance Exempt Research for more information on changes that affect the determination of exemption. Please contact the HRSPP to consult on whether the proposed changes need further review.
- You should report any unanticipated problems involving risks to the participants or others to the IRB.
- All documents referenced in this submission have been reviewed and approved. Documents are filed with the HRSPP Office. If subjects will be consented, the approved consent(s) are attached to the approval notification from the HRSPP Office.
- Exempt projects are maintained in HRSPP for five (5) years from approval. An updated application is required every five (5) years.

Generated on IRBNet

805 S Beaver St Building 22, Room 215 PO Box: 4062

Appendix B: Superintendent's Permission for Data Use

A Community Passionate About Student Success

January 18, 2018

Dear Fred,

Please let this letter serve as my permission to allow you to utilize 2009-2014 student data in any way necessary in order to complete your dissertation study, knowing that you will ensure the anonymity of any student involved. I also request that you provide a copy of the results from your completed study.

Please do not hesitate to contact me if you need anything further.

Krish Sandvik

Dr. Kristi Sandvik '

Appendix C: Author's Biography

Fred Lugo is a seventh generation Arizona native, raised in Buckeye, Arizona. After high school graduation, he enlisted in the U.S. Army where he spent 23 rewarding years as an Airborne Ranger. During his Army tenure, he earned his bachelor's degree by taking courses from nine different colleges and universities over a 17-year period. After retiring as a Command Sergeant Major in 2002, he enrolled in the Troops to Teachers program and began teaching in the Buckeye Elementary School District, at his childhood home school where he continues to work today. He received a master's degree in Elementary Education from Grand Canyon University in 2005. His service in the Buckeye School District includes teaching Physical Education, as well as 3rd and 4th grades. Fred attained two graduate certificates, Principal and Superintendent, in 2008 from Northern Arizona University. He served as an Assistant Principal for three years and is currently a Principal in the Buckeye School District.

Fred has been happily married to his high school sweetheart, Mary Jo, for 36 short years. They have one amazing daughter, Elizabeth. Elizabeth and her husband, Johnny reside in Kentucky and have three wonderful children, Giuliana 6, John John 4, and Dominic, 1. Fred plans to remain in his hometown community of Buckeye, where he can continue to support the children through their learning and growth.